

FINANCIAL CONDITION REPORT



Athora Holding Ltd.

CONTENTS

Summary	4
1 Business and performance	7
1.1 Insurance group	7
1.2 Insurance group supervisor	8
1.3 Approved group auditor	8
1.4 Ownership details	8
1.5 Group structure	9
1.6 Performance	9
1.7 Any other material information	11
2 Governance structure	12
2.1 Parent board and senior executives	12
2.2 Fitness and propriety requirements	15
2.3 Risk and capital management	26
2.4 Internal controls	30
2.5 Internal audit	31
2.6 Actuarial function	32
2.7 Outsourcing	33
2.8 Any other material information	34
3 Risk profile	35
3.1 Material risks	35
3.2 Prudent person principle	44
3.3 Stress testing and sensitivity analysis	45
3.4 Any other material information	46
4 Solvency valuation	47
4.1 Asset valuation bases	47
4.2 Technical provisions valuation bases	48
4.3 Recoverables from reinsurance contracts valuation bas	ses 51
4.4 Valuation bases, assumptions and methods of other liabilities	51
4.5 Any other material information	52
5 Capital management	53
5.1 Eligible capital	53
5.2 Regulatory capital	56
5.3 Group solvency sensitivities	58
5.4 Approved internal capital model to derive the ECR	58
5.5 Any other material information	58

3

6 Subsequent events	59
6.1 Description of the subsequent events 6.2 Any other material information	59 59
Declaration	60
Appendix 1	61
Appendix 2	62

SUMMARY

Athora Holding Ltd. (AHL or the Company), a limited liability company domiciled in Bermuda, is the holding company of the Athora group of companies (collectively, Athora or the group).

Athora is subject to insurance group regulatory supervision by the Bermuda Monetary Authority (BMA). This document represents the group Financial Condition Report (FCR) that is required to be published.

The FCR has been prepared in accordance with the Insurance (Group Supervision) Rules 2011, as amended (Group Rules) and the Insurance (Prudential Standards) (Insurance Group Solvency Requirement) Rules 2011, as amended (Group Solvency Rules).

The purpose of the FCR is to provide information on the group's business and performance, governance structure, risk profile, solvency valuation and capital management. The FCR also describes significant events that have occurred subsequent to the financial year ended 31 December 2021, in order to provide a complete view of the current status of the group.

On 6 October 2021, Athora published a Significant Event Report (SER) on its website in accordance with the Group Rules. Athora had identified modelling errors in the calculation of its consolidated Economic Balance Sheet (EBS), and adjusted its Operational Risk Capital, resulting in an update to its Available Statutory Capital and Enhanced Capital Requirement (ECR) at 31 December 2020. Any comparative figures for the year ended 31 December 2020 have been updated in line with the SER and are marked as "restated" where applicable.

The SER is available on the Athora website at the following link:

www.athora.com/results-and-reports

Business and performance

Athora is an insurance and reinsurance group fully focused on the European market. We are a specialised operator focusing on the large and attractive traditional life and pensions market. The group's mission is to bring more value to customers in fulfilling their long-term insurance needs. Our ambition is to become a leading provider of guaranteed life and pensions products and solutions in Europe. We operate through primary insurance businesses in the Netherlands, Belgium and Germany, and reinsurance operations in Bermuda and Ireland.

In 2021, Athora was able to show strong business performance evidenced by a further year of profitability. These results demonstrate the strength of Athora's business model, comprising strong risk, capital and investment management capabilities and enabling us to deliver competitive returns to our customers, while supporting business unit organic capital generation and future shareholder returns.

Our 2021 International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) results reflect a full year of Athora Netherlands, following its acquisition by the group in April 2020.

Further details of our business and performance and significant events in 2021 are set out in section 1 of this FCR. Details of material subsequent events are set out in section 6.

Governance structure

The board of directors of AHL (the Board) is responsible for promoting Athora's long-term success. This includes setting the strategic objectives for the group, the ultimate risk appetite of the group, and monitoring management delivery of these strategic objectives within the agreed governance framework. The Management Executive Committee (MEC) which is chaired by the Group Chief Executive Officer (CEO) is responsible for formalising and implementing policies, procedures, internal controls and operational mechanics to deliver the long-term strategic direction approved by the Board.

Our enterprise risk management (ERM) framework lays the foundations for managing risk throughout the group. Athora uses a forward-looking risk management system and manages individual risks through a continuous cycle of identification, assessment, management and monitoring, with regular review. We have implemented a *three lines of defence* governance model to ensure that risks are clearly identified, owned and managed.

Further details of our governance structure, including particulars of our corporate governance and risk management frameworks and solvency self-assessment process, are set out in section 2.

Risk profile

The objective of Athora's risk management framework is that each risk is assumed deliberately —and managed to create value for stakeholders within our defined risk appetite and risk strategy.

Our risk appetite and risk strategy are integral parts of our business strategy. They determine how we select the risks we can control, and from which we can extract value, in line with our mission. Risk appetite and risk strategy are translated into specific policies and limits for the relevant risk types. Specific strategies apply for each risk type, but three fundamental principles apply generally:

- targeted risk selection,
- skilled risk taking and
- cohesive risk management

Athora's risk universe is a comprehensive set of risk categories and sub-categories. Risks are grouped by risk types: strategic, market, credit, liquidity, underwriting (long-term insurance), operational, compliance, tax, reputational and emerging risks. All of our businesses use a consistent approach to facilitate a common understanding of risk, risk aggregation and reporting. We use risk appetite statements to indicate our appetite for certain risks. These are set at group level to manage the aggregated risk profile across the group.

Athora's defensive investment positioning and solid underwriting governance maintained before and throughout the covid crisis have contributed to positively weather the challenging market conditions without reporting material credit losses. Further details of our risk profile, including a description of the risks to which the group is exposed and how we measure, monitor, manage and mitigate these risks, is set out in section 3 of this FCR.

Solvency valuation

We value our assets and liabilities on a fair value basis in accordance with the EBS valuation principles.

Section 4 of this report provides further description of the bases, methods and assumptions used in the valuation of assets, technical provisions and other liabilities used to determine the group's regulatory solvency.

Capital management

We monitor and manage the group's capital in conjunction with Bermuda's solvency capital requirements. We seek to maintain financial strength in accordance with our risk appetite, to support business growth, meet the requirements of our regulator and give our customers, shareholders and other stakeholders assurance of our financial strength.

The group's Balance Sheet Management and Risk Committees, together with the Board, regularly consider capital assessments and projections for Athora to ensure that capital is managed with continuous adherence to Athora's principles around capital adequacy, financial flexibility and efficient use of capital.

Our required capital, i.e., ECR is calculated using the Bermuda Solvency Capital Requirement (BSCR) model. Our EBS regulatory capital position at 31 December 2021 is shown in the following table:

	R	estated
Capital	2021 €m	2020 €m
Available Statutory Capital	4,662	4,890
ECR	2,492	2,445
Surplus	2,170	2,445
Solvency ratio	187%	200%

The group solvency ratio at 31 December 2021 of 187% is above the group risk appetite thresholds.

At 31 December 2021, Athora's Available Statutory Capital on an EBS basis was \leq 4,662 million (2020: \leq 4,890 million). Within this, \leq 3,742 million (2020: \leq 4,036 million) was categorised as Tier 1, the highest quality capital, mainly consisting of common share capital and share premium, statutory economic surplus, preferred shares and restricted Tier 1 notes (which are classified as Tier 1 ancillary capital). Tier 2 capital of \leq 920 million (2020: \leq 854 million) related to three subordinated debt instruments.

The following charts show the composition of the group's undiversified ECR by BSCR risk category.¹





The largest components of the undiversified ECR are market risk (which includes fixed income investment risk, interest rate, liquidity risk and other market risks) and long-term insurance risk, which is the risk that the frequency or severity of insured events may be worse than expected and includes expenses risk.

Further details of our capital management objectives and policies, and our regulatory capital position at 31 December 2021, including group solvency sensitivities, are set out in section 5 of this FCR.

Outlook

2021 was a year of continued and steady progress. Our medium-term strategy is now evolving to reflect more focus on execution of our plans, maturation of our environment and consolidation of our leadership position. Athora remains focused on disciplined and accretive growth and we continue to see potential for innovative reinsurance and M&A solutions in the European life and pensions market. Value generation is at the heart of what we do and we believe that, by delivering our business model and optimising our core value levers, we will achieve attractive returns for customers and shareholders alike.

¹ Under the BSCR model, credit risk covers mainly reinsurance and receivables exposures only. Credit risk linked to investment assets is captured under 'Fixed income investment risk' within market risks. An analysis of the mapping between the BSCR risk categories and Athora's Risk Universe is set out in Appendix 2.



1.1 Insurance group

1.1.1 Name and contact details

AHL, a limited liability company domiciled in Bermuda, is the holding company of the Athora group of companies.

Ideation House, First Floor 94 Pitts Bay Road Pembroke HM08 Bermuda

+1 441 278 8600 https://www.athora.com

1.1.2 Business overview

Athora is an insurance and reinsurance group fully focused on the European market. We are a specialised operator focusing on the large and attractive traditional life and pensions market. Our ambition is to become a leading provider of guaranteed life and pensions products and solutions in Europe. The group's mission is to bring more value to customers in fulfilling their long-term insurance needs.

Athora offers innovative reinsurance and M&A solutions to insurers seeking to enhance their capital position or enact strategic change. We also serve the needs of individual and corporate customers that continue to demand products offering safety of returns, at a time when many operators are de-emphasising these products.

Our business model is centred on the disciplined accumulation of stable and long-dated insurance liabilities; a sophisticated approach to investment, capital and risk management; and an efficient operating model. We have supportive long-term shareholders and benefit from a strategic relationship with Apollo Global Management Inc. and its subsidiaries (Apollo), which allows us to leverage the scale of its asset management platform.

Our culture is founded on a clear set of values: Dare to be different, Seek simplicity, Care, and Do the right thing.

We operate through primary insurance businesses in the Netherlands, Belgium and Germany, and reinsurance operations in Bermuda and Ireland. Following the completion of the acquisition of Amissima Vita in 2022, we will also have primary operations in Italy.

Our three primary insurance businesses provide a range of life insurance, pensions and savings products. In the Netherlands (\in 64.1 billion AUA') and Belgium (\in 7.9 billion AUA'), we actively write new business. Our German business unit (\in 5.8 billion AUA') is closed to new business. Our reinsurance subsidiaries (\in 1.9 billion AUA'), Athora Life Re Ltd (Bermuda) and Athora Ireland plc, offer third-party capital optimisation and risk management solutions to other European life insurers, and internal reinsurance solutions to our primary insurance subsidiaries.

1.1.3 Significant events in the reporting period

The following significant events took place during the reporting period. Details of material subsequent events are set out in section 6.

 In March, SRLEV N.V (SRLEV) announced the redemption of the outstanding €250 million of originally issued €400 million subordinated bonds due 2041.

¹ Assets under administration (AUA) at 31 December 2021. For further details see our 2021 Annual Report which is available at https://www.Athora.com/results-and-reports

- In April, Athora Netherlands successfully issued a €300 million subordinated Tier 2 capital instrument. The bond was priced at 260 basis points over the 5 year mid-swap rate, with a fixed rate coupon of 2.250%. The Tier 2 Notes have a first call date on 15 April 2026.
- In September, we announced plans to acquire Italian life insurer Amissima Vita which supports our strategic priority to grow via traditional life savings and pension products. At year end 2020, Amissima Vita's assets stood at €7,200 million and annual gross written premiums totalled over €800 million.
- In October, Athora Netherlands reached an agreement to sell its asset manager ACTIAM N.V. to Cardano Group. As part of this transaction, Athora Netherlands has entered into a long-term strategic partnership with Cardano, in which Cardano will provide asset management services to the unit-linked business of Athora Netherlands. The transaction is an important milestone in the execution of Athora Netherlands' strategy to focus on pension solutions, play to Athora Netherlands' strengths and further simplify the organisation structure.
- In October, Athora published a SER on its website in accordance with the Group Rules. Athora had identified modelling errors in the calculation of its consolidated EBS, and adjusted its Operational Risk Capital, resulting in an update to its Available Statutory Capital and ECR at 31 December 2020. The SER is available on the Athora website at the following link: www.athora.com/results-and-reports.
- In November, we announced that Athora Belgium has entered into an agreement to acquire a €3.3 billion closed-book individual life portfolio from NN Insurance Belgium. It demonstrates our ongoing growth strategy focused on traditional life savings and pension products in the European market.
- In December, we completed the sale of the variable annuity portfolio of our wholly-owned subsidiary, Athora Ireland, to Monument Life, a wholly-owned, Dublin-based subsidiary of Monument Re.

1.2 Insurance group supervisor

The BMA acts as group supervisor for Athora.

BMA House 43 Victoria Street Hamilton HM12 Bermuda

+1 441 295 5278 https://www.bma.bm

1.3 Approved group auditor

The approved group auditor for Athora is Ernst & Young.

EY Building Harcourt Centre Harcourt Street Dublin 2 Ireland

+353 1 475 0555 https://www.ey.com/en_ie

1.4 Ownership details

Athora is privately owned by a diverse group of global investors that have taken a long-term approach to their investment in Athora and have committed \leq 4.7 billion of equity capital. Our investor base comprises pension funds, sovereign wealth funds, family offices and financial services companies.

Key minority shareholders

The group has three key minority shareholders: Apollo, Athene Holding Ltd. and its affiliates (Athene) and the Abu Dhabi Investment Authority and its affiliates (ADIA). On 8 March 2021 it was announced that Apollo and Athene would merge, and this deal completed in January 2022.

 As a co-founder of Athora, Apollo retains a strategic relationship with Athora. Apollo provides Athora with specific asset management and specialised investment expertise through its subsidiary, Apollo Asset Management Europe LLP. At 31 December 2021, Apollo had a 10.52% economic interest (19.90% vote) holding in Athora's common share capital and had four members on Athora's Board.

9

- Athene was a co-founder of Athora, together with Apollo. Athora was a subsidiary of Athene until 1 January 2018, when Athene deconsolidated Athora through a private offering of equity securities. At 31 December 2021 Athene retained a 15.78% economic interest (10% vote) holding in the equity share capital of Athora and had one member on Athora's Board.
- At 31 December 2021, ADIA had a minority interest in Athora and had exercised its right to select one member to Athora's Board.

1.5 Group structure

A simplified group structure as at 31 December 2021 is shown in Appendix 1.

1.6 Performance

1.6.1 Insurance business written during the reporting period

The table below sets out the group's IFRS and statutory gross earned premiums from its insurance and reinsurance activities, and by geographical region, during the reporting period.

	2021 €m	2020 €m¹
Insurance	2,579	1,674
Reinsurance accepted	41	120
	2,620	1,794
Netherlands	2,167	1,220
Belgium	261	286
Germany	153	170
Bermuda	39	118
	2,620	1,794

1 The 2020 comparatives have been re-presented from those previously published to reclassify certain operations as discontinued operations.

Gross earned premiums were €2,620 million (2020²:€1,794 million). The increase in 2021 mainly reflects a full year of Athora Netherlands, following its acquisition by the group in April 2020. In the Netherlands, 2021 saw a continued shift in the product mix with lower individual life premiums and a shift away from traditional pension products and towards the Zwitserleven branded products. In addition, Athora Netherlands completed three pension risk transfer transactions including a landmark arrangement with pension fund Atradius in November 2021. In Belgium, compared to 2020 premiums were slightly lower, due to a reduction in group life business in line with the run-off book and, in addition, a general decrease in individual life guaranteed business, this has been offset by an increase in unit-linked single premium business. In Germany, premiums are down on 2020, reflecting the run-off nature of the closed book.

1.6.2 Investment performance

Investment strategy

Athora's investment strategy is focused on matching the cashflows of our liabilities and earning attractive risk-adjusted returns, while ensuring capital stability. Our expertise in managing assets enables us to deliver the returns that our customers desire, and sustainable returns for our shareholders, who have entrusted us with their investments. Our differentiated investment strategy benefits from our strategic relationship with Apollo, who provide a full suite of services for some of our investment portfolio.

Further details of our investment strategy are set out in the group's 2021 Annual Report, which can be found on our website at https:// www.athora.com/results-and-reports

Asset allocation

During the year significant progress was made in the transition towards the Strategic Asset Allocation (SAA) in Athora Netherlands, with focus on rotating a greater proportion of the balance sheet into return seeking assets to support capital generation. In our Belgium and Germany businesses we focused on optimising the portfolios to enhance capital efficiency. For all balance sheets, favourable conditions persisted for new asset deployment with riskreturn dynamics in private markets remaining attractive. 2021 deployment in return seeking assets was achieved above SAA target spread levels, without compromising on asset quality.

² The 2020 comparatives have been re-presented from those previously published to reclassify certain operations as discontinued operations.

Performance of investments by asset class

Investment income was €(749) million (2020: €2,241 million).

Excluding the result from derivatives, investment income increased to €1,300 million (2020: €1,035 million) reflecting increased gains in the investment property portfolio, more favourable exchange movements and increased interest income as interest rates and the size of the credit asset portfolio increased. These were partially offset by lower returns on the fixed income portfolio.

The result from derivatives was a loss of €2,049 million (2020: €1,206 million credit), mainly reflecting the impact of rising interest rates on the values of derivatives used for asset/liability management purposes. Derivatives are used by the group to hedge solvency capital and for risk management purposes. The change in the valuation of this derivative portfolio is largely offset by opposite movements in related insurance provisions.

2021 €m	Financial assets at FVTPL	Available- for-sale financial assets	Loans and receivables	Investment properties	Cash and other	Total
Interest	5	369	74	-	20	468
Dividends	10	15	-	-	-	25
Rental income	-	-	-	86	-	86
Other income	-	(9)	-	-	-	(9)
Direct operating expenses	-	-	-	(17)	-	(17)
Realised revaluations	(1)	277	(7)	2	90	361
Unrealised revaluations	(156)	361	21	200	(40)	386
	(142)	1,013	88	271	70	1,300

2020 €m¹	Financial assets at FVTPL	Available- for-sale financial assets	Loans and receivables	Investment properties	Cash and other	Total
Interest	4	310	86	-	19	419
Dividends	1	14	-	-	-	15
Rental income	-	-	-	57	-	57
Other income	(8)	8	-	-	18	18
Direct operating expenses	-	-	-	(19)	-	(19)
Realised revaluations	(1)	713	(1)	2	-	713
Unrealised revaluations	81	(284)	(54)	51	38	(168)
	77	761	31	91	75	1,035

1 The 2020 comparatives have been re-presented from those previously published to reclassify certain operations as discontinued operations.

11

1.6.3 Details on material income and expenses incurred by the insurance group during the reporting year

Income

The group's main sources of income are from its insurance and reinsurance underwriting and investment activities. As set out in sections 1.6.1 and 1.6.2 above, during the reporting period Athora generated $\leq 2,620$ million (2020^3 : $\leq 1,794$ million) of gross earned premiums from underwriting activities and $\leq (749)$ million (2020^3 : $\leq 2,241$ million) of investment income.

Investment income and expenses attributable to policyholders and third parties were €2,140 million (2020: €2,456 million) and a charge of €1,496 million (2020: €2,347 million charge) respectively.

Expenses

The group's main sources of expenses are net insurance benefits and claims, general administrative and other expenses, and interest expenses.

Net insurance claims and benefits, which include the movement in insurance provisions, were \notin 821 million (2020³: \notin 2,692 million) on an IFRS basis. Within this, net paid claims were \notin 3,313 million (2020: \notin 2,757 million). The net movement in insurance provisions was a charge of \notin 2,492 million (2020: \notin 65 million).

Other expenses were €721 million (2020: €671 million). Compared to 2020, other expenses increased in 2021 driven by a €90m realised loss on financial liabilities.

Interest expense was €111 million (2020: €105 million). The expense relating to Athora Netherlands' subordinated debt borrowings was €55 million (2020: €60 million), interest expense on other borrowings was €31 million (2020: €29 million) and other interest expenses of €25 million (2020: €16 million) related to various operating liabilities, including repurchase agreements.

Further details of our IFRS results are set out in the group's 2021 Annual Report.

1.7 Any other material information

There is no other material information to report.

³ The 2020 comparatives have been re-presented from those previously published to reclassify certain operations as discontinued operations.

2 GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

Athora has established a robust board, committee and management structure to oversee the business of the group. Our system of governance is appropriate for the nature, scale and complexity of risks inherent in our business and ensures compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Athora is committed to a high standard of corporate governance and has adopted Board and other governance guidelines and terms of reference as a framework. The Board has delegated certain authority to a number of management committees, each with their own terms of reference.

Athora is steered, at the direction of the Board, by the MEC who are responsible for formalising and implementing policies, procedures, internal controls and operational mechanics to deliver the long-term strategic direction approved by the Board.

2.1 Parent board and senior executives

2.1.1 A description of the structure of the board and senior executive, the roles, responsibilities and segregation of these responsibilities

Board and committee structure

The Board is responsible for promoting Athora's long-term success. This includes setting the strategic objectives, the ultimate risk appetite of the group, and monitoring management delivery of these strategic objectives within the agreed governance framework. AHL's Board governance guidelines and group Bye-laws define the Board's duties, membership and meeting procedures.

The MEC are responsible for formalising and implementing policies, procedures, internal controls and operational mechanics to deliver the long-term strategic direction approved by the Board. To assist in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities, the Board has established six Board committees, each with their own charter. Each committee chair person reports to the Board on the committee's activities.



The purpose of each committee

Audit Committee

Oversight and monitoring of the integrity of the consolidated financial statements and financial and accounting processes; monitoring compliance with audit, internal accounting and internal controls requirements; monitoring the independent auditor's qualifications, independence and performance; and monitoring legal and regulatory compliance and ethical standards.

Compensation Committee

Oversight of the group's executive compensation programme.

Conflicts Committee

Evaluates and considers for approval certain related party transactions.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

Identifies, evaluates and recommends individuals for Board, subsidiary board and senior management appointment. Oversees the annual performance evaluation of the Board, subsidiary boards, and each of their respective committees and management.

Risk Committee

Oversight of systems and processes to identify, manage and mitigate risks. Assists the Board and its committees in fulfilling their oversight responsibilities for risk management.

Transactions Committee

Reviews and assesses material transactions (e.g. acquisitions, dispositions and certain reinsurance transactions) for recommendation to the Board.

Group executive management structure

Athora is led, at the direction of the Board, by the MEC who are responsible for the day-to-day management and oversight of the group including implementation of Board-approved strategies at an AHL level. The MEC also provides guidance to the Athora subsidiaries.

Responsibilities are allocated individually to the following members of the MEC by functional area:

Role	MEC member
Group Chief Executive Officer	Michele Bareggi
Group Chief Financial Officer	Anders Malmström appointed effective 1 May 2021
Group Chief Risk Officer	Lukas Ziewer
Group Head of Growth	Henrik Matsen
Group General Counsel	Ralf Schmitt
Group Chief Operating Officer	Philip Proost resigned 1 December 2021
Group Chief Operating Officer	Stefan Spohr appointed effective 30 March 2022
Regional CEO - Germany and Belgium	Eric Viet

Membership of the MEC is subject to regulatory notification and meeting fitness and propriety requirements. Athora's MEC members have substantial experience in insurance and broader global financial services, as outlined in section 2.2 below.

Subsidiary governance

The responsibility for day-to-day management at the level of each of Athora's regulated subsidiaries sits with the respective board, management and (where applicable) supervisory boards of each subsidiary. Each of Athora's regulated subsidiaries has a comprehensive local governance framework. This supports the subsidiary board in oversight and monitoring of the business of the subsidiary. The board of each subsidiary has established appropriate committees (e.g., audit committee and risk committee) to assist in fulfilling its role.

2.1.2 A description of the remuneration policy and practices and performance-based criteria governing the parent board, senior executive, and employees

Athora's group remuneration policy lays out the philosophy and principles which guide how we compensate and incentivise our employees, including those whose professional activities have a material impact on the undertaking's risk profile.

We apply a total reward approach whereby we seek to drive the highest possible levels of engagement, motivation, performance and costeffectiveness through employing the appropriate elements of compensation and benefits. We seek to:

- provide a well-balanced and, where appropriate, performance-related compensation package for employees, considering the interests of all stakeholders and relevant regulators;
- provide a motivational employment package, as appropriate to each role and to the markets in which we operate, which seeks to drive high levels of individual, team and collective engagement;
- remain competitive in all markets; and
- keep all design aspects modern and as simple as possible, allowing for efficient management and administration of all programmes.

The policy applies to all Athora employees and independent non-executive directors. In the case where there is a conflict between the group policy and a remuneration policy established and approved by a local subsidiary board, the local policy shall prevail to the extent that it relates to those individuals employed by or serving the local subsidiaries.

Employee reward

Athora aims to attract, recruit, develop and retain competent employees with the skills,

knowledge and expertise to fulfil their allocated responsibilities. We seek to provide a motivational employment package, as appropriate to each role in the markets in which we operate.

All employees are required to set performance objectives, aligned ultimately to corporate objectives. Compensation and discretionary bonuses (where applicable) are based on the output of regular performance reviews and aligned with the interests of policyholders and shareholders.

Executive and non-executive director reward

The Compensation Committee is responsible for the review and approval of the key terms of employment and appropriate levels of compensation for the most senior group executives.

Executive directors

The policy for executive directors is to provide a fixed and (where appropriate) a variable component to their compensation alongside employee benefits. The variable element of remuneration may comprise a short- and a long-term variable component to reward the achievement of qualitative and quantitative performance objectives.

Annual bonus plans for this group provide for a maximum target bonus of no more than 200% of the annual basic salary (unless specifically approved as an exception). There is at a minimum an annual evaluation of individual and collective performance; this forms the basis of performance-related remuneration.

Executive directors are typically eligible for participation in long-term incentive arrangements as part of a balanced and market-oriented approach to fixed and variable remuneration in line with our principles. Rewards are delivered in either shares, phantom shares and/or cash. From time to time, other additional equity incentives which are founded on equity in group entities outside of the European Union may be offered to this group.

Typically, the long-term incentive arrangements include the following characteristics, tailored according to circumstances:

- There is a total time frame of three or more years for each performance cycle.
- Incentives are aligned to specific long-term and balanced performance objectives.
- Incentives are provided as part of an appropriately balanced package between fixed and variable, short- and long-term focused remuneration as appropriate to the role and market.
- A holding period post-vesting may apply, in line with applicable regulatory expectations.

Where executive directors are also classified as *Identified*¹ they will also be subject to the variable remuneration deferral.

Independent non-executive directors (INEDs)

INEDs are typically remunerated by means of an annual base retainer fee and committee membership and/or chair fee, where applicable. The annual base retainer fee is typically offered in a cash payment and partly in a share award vesting over a two-year period. Other fees may also be approved on a case-by-case basis as approved by the Compensation Committee. The level of their remuneration is reviewed periodically by the Compensation Committee.

Where required, INEDs are provided with professional indemnity (Directors and Officers) insurance for the period during which they undertake their duties. INEDs receive reimbursement for expenses incurred in the performance of their duties.

2.1.3 A description of the supplementary pension or early retirement schemes for members of the insurance group, parent board, its senior executives, and employees

We operate a range of pension plans aligned to local market requirements, primarily on a defined contribution basis. The maximum employer contribution is typically 10% of eligible salary, other than where mandated by local jurisdictions.

¹ Individuals defined under the European Solvency II regime as comprising the administrative, management or supervisory body in a regulated entity; persons who effectively run the regulated undertaking or other categories of staff whose professional activities have a material impact on the undertaking's risk profile.

15

2.1.4 Any material transactions with shareholder controllers, persons who exercise significant influence, the parent board or senior executive

As explained in section 1.4, the group has three key minority shareholders. Athene, Apollo and ADIA are considered to have significant influence over the group due to representation on Athora's Board and are therefore related parties of the group.

Transactions with key minority shareholders

During 2021, the group raised additional capital of €360 million which included €352 million raised in aggregate from Apollo and Athene.

At 31 December 2021, Athene and Apollo have commitments to make additional equity investments in Athora of \in 860 million, which remain undrawn and available to the group.

The table below summarises the amount of the other material transactions with Athene and Apollo during the year and the outstanding balances at the end of the year:

€m	Income	Expenses	Payable	Receivable
2021				
Apollo	1	103	28	-
Athene	-	3	3	-
	1	106	31	-

€m	Income	Expenses	Payable	Receivable
2020				
Apollo	1	85	27	-
Athene	2	1	-	110
	3	86	27	110

Apollo has a strategic relationship with Athora and provides the group with investment management, advisory and sub-advisory services through its subsidiary, Apollo Asset Management Europe LLP. We expect the strategic relationship with Apollo to continue for the foreseeable future.

The group has leased office space in the United Kingdom. Under a sub-licence agreement, Apollo rents a floor of this space, with total annual rent payable, including service and similar costs, of €1 million (2020: €1 million) excluding VAT.

Athene has a cooperation agreement with Athora. Under this agreement, which excludes Athora Netherlands, Athene and Athora have certain rights of first refusal relating to certain reinsurance and acquisition transactions. As at 31 December 2021, Athene has not exercised its right of first refusal to reinsure liabilities ceded to Athora's insurance or reinsurance subsidiaries. In addition, Athora's subsidiaries (excluding Athora Netherlands) may from time to time purchase certain funding agreements and/or other spread instruments issued by Athene's insurance subsidiaries. At 31 December 2021 the value of funding agreements purchased by the group was €62 million (2020: €110 million).

2.2 Fitness and propriety requirements

2.2.1 A description of the fit and proper process in assessing the parent board and senior executive

Athora uses the hiring and vetting process including recruitment and interviewing requirements to confirm fitness and propriety for the relevant role. All Board and senior management appointments are subject to review by the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, as set out in the committee's charter.

2.2.2 A description of the professional qualifications, skills, and expertise of the parent board and its senior executives to carry out their functions

Our Board consists of eleven directors, including five fully independent non-executive directors (INEDs). One INED serves as chairman of both the Board and the Risk Committee and another as the chairman of the Audit Committee, the Conflicts Committee, and the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee.

Our Board has diverse management, operations, governance and oversight experience across many industries. Biographies of our Board members are set out in the following pages.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS



Nikolaus von Bomhard Chair, INED Tenure: 4 years

Committees: Rsk Cmp Cfl Trx



Debra Broek INED

Tenure: 3 years

Committees: Adt Cfl Rsk

Positions held and expertise

- Expertise in management of insurance and reinsurance risks; solvency regulation; financial accounting
- Chief executive officer of Munich Re from 2004 to 2017, having joined the company in 1985

Other current appointments include

- Supervisory board chairman, Deutsche Post DHL Group
- Supervisory board chairman, Munich Re

Qualifications

- Law, Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität of Munich
- Doctorate, University of Regensburg

Positions held and expertise

- Over 25 years of insurance experience, primarily in finance and risk
- Professional presenter and trainer in US Generally Accepted Accounting Principles and International Financial **Reporting Standards**
- Head of investor relations and rating agency management at Zurich Insurance Group
- Chief financial officer of Zurich Insurance Group's global life segment
- Member of finance executive team and group finance and risk council, Zurich Insurance Group
- Chief accounting officer, managing director of the Winterthur Group
- Senior audit manager at KPMG

Other current appointments include

- Non-executive director and audit and risk committee member, Zurich American Insurance Company
- Non-executive director and audit and risk committee chair, Zurich American Life Insurance Company
- Board of trustees chair, Dordt University in Sioux Center, Iowa

Qualifications

- BA in accounting and business
- administration, Dordt University, Iowa
- CPA; FLMI

Adt Audit Cmp Compensation

Committee Chair

Cfl Conflicts Nmt Nominating and Corporate Governance Rsk Risk Trx Transactions



17



Volkert Doeksen INED

Tenure: 4 years

Committees: Cfl



Anna Maria d'Hulster INED

Tenure: 3 years

Committees: Adt Cfl Rsk

Positions held and expertise

- Twenty-five years of investment experience
- Co-founder and chairman/CEO of AlpInvest Partners
- Director at Kleinwort Benson Ltd
- Dillon Read and Morgan Stanley, London

Other current appointments include

- Partner, GP House
- Supervisory board member, Koninklijke Doeksen
- Board member, Nouryon B.V.
- Board member, Nobian B.V.
- Board member and Audit Committee member, Redball Acquisition Corp.
- Board member, European Biotech Acquisition Corporation – LSPvc.

Qualifications

LL.M. from Leiden Law

Positions held and expertise

- Secretary general of The Geneva Association, the insurance industry's leading international think tank, between August 2014 and February 2019
- Senior roles at the Baloise Group, including head of group financial management and head of group performance management
- Founder and chief executive officer of Baloise Life
- Principal with Boston Consulting Group, covering insurance and banking projects in Germany and United States
- Board positions have included Deutscher Ring and Mercator Verzekeringen
- Member of executive committee of
 Insurance Europe

Other current appointments include

- Non-executive director and risk committee chair, CNA Europe
- Non-executive director and risk committee chair, Hardy (Underwriting Agencies) Limited, London
- Member of the supervisory board, UNIQA Insurance Group

Qualifications

- MBA, INSEAD
- Degree in business and engineering, Free University of Brussels (Solvay School)



Fred Kleisner INED Tenure: 4 years Committees: Adt Cfl Nmt



Jérôme Mourgue d'Algue

Tenure: 4 years

Committees: Cmp Cfl Nmt Rsk Trx

Positions held and expertise

- Extensive experience in business management and governance; financial expert
- Four-decade-plus hotelier, corporate CEO and COO
- Led successful management teams throughout the world in every aspect and sector of hospitality

Other current appointments include

- Independent director, Ashford Hospitality Trust (NYSE: AHT)
- Director, executive committee member and board treasurer, IslandWood School, Bainbridge Island, WA
- Independent director, NR International, a public reporting, non-traded REIT

Qualifications

- BA, Michigan State University School of Hospitality Business
- MSU Industry Leader of the Year, 2004

Positions held and expertise

- Twenty-one years of investment experience
- Head of EMEA and Americas, Private Equity, ADIA
- Head of financial services and senior portfolio manager, private equity, ADIA (2012-2018)
- Partner at Bregal Capital LLP
- Vice president at Morgan Stanley **Capital Partners**
- Started his career at McKinsey & Company
- Director and member of risk committee of Athene Holding Ltd.

Other current appointments include

- Director, Constellation Automotive Holdings Limited
- Director, Pension Insurance Corporation

Qualifications

- MBA, Wharton School of Business
- BA in business administration, ESSEC (France)

Adt Audit

Cmp Compensation Cfl Conflicts Nmt Nominating and Corporate Governance Rsk Risk Trx Transactions



19



William Wheeler

Tenure: 4 years

Committees: Adt Cmp Nmt Trx



Alexander Humphreys

Tenure: 3 years

Committees: Adt

Positions held and expertise

- Expertise in insurance and finance
- President of Athene Holding Ltd.
- President of the Americas group for MetLife Inc.
- Various executive positions such as executive vice president and chief financial officer during 17 years at MetLife; as treasurer, played key role in preparing MetLife to become a public company
- Investment banker at Donaldson, Lufkin & Jenrette

Other current appointments include

- Director, American Council of Life Insurers
- Director, Evercore Partners Inc.
- Director, Venerable Holdings Inc.

Qualifications

- BA in English, Wabash College
- MBA, Harvard Business School

Positions held and expertise

- Partner at Apollo Global Management, Inc., having joined in 2008.
- Financial institutions mergers and acquisitions team, Goldman Sachs, London

Other current appointments include

- Director, Amissima Vita
- Director, Aspen
- Director, Catalina Holdings
- Director, Miller Homes

Qualifications

 BSc in economics, University College London



Gernot Löhr

Tenure: 4 years

Committees: Cmp Nmt Rsk Trx



Marc Rowan

Tenure: 4 years

Committees: Trx

Positions held and expertise

- Senior partner at Apollo Global Management, Inc. Member of Apollo's Management Committee; oversees Apollo's investments in the financial services sector
- Founding partner at Infinity Point LLC, Apollo's joint venture partner for the financial services industry
- Financial services investment banking at Goldman Sachs & Co., McKinsey & Company and B. Metzler **Corporate Finance**

Other current appointments include

- Director, Aspen
- Director, Athene Holding Ltd.
- Director, Catalina Holdings
- Director, OLB
- Director, SNL AG
- Advisory board member, MIT Sloan School of Management

Qualifications

- Joint master's degree in economics and engineering, University of Karlsruhe
- MBA, MIT Sloan School of Management

Positions held and expertise

Co-founder and CEO of Apollo Global Management, Inc.

Other current appointments include

- Director, Apollo Global Management, Inc.
- Director, Athene Holding Ltd.
- Founding member and chairman of Youth Renewal Fund
- Chair of the board of advisors, the Wharton School
- Member of the board of trustees, University of Pennsylvania

Qualifications

- BS (summa cum laude), Wharton School of Business, University of Pennsylvania
- MBA in finance, Wharton School of Business, University of Pennsylvania



Adt Audit







Scott Kleinman

Tenure: >1 year Committees: Trx

Positions held and expertise

- Co-president of Apollo Global Management, Inc., co-leading Apollo's day-to-day operations including all of Apollo's revenue-generating businesses and enterprise solutions across its integrated alternative investment platform.
- Joined Apollo in 1996; named lead partner for private equity in 2009; named co-president in 2018. Serves on Management and Executive Committees.
- Previously member of investment banking division at Smith Barney Inc.
- Founded the Kleinman Center for Energy Policy at the University of Pennsylvania in 2014.

Other current appointments include

- Member of board of directors, Apollo Global Management Inc., Athene Holding Ltd. and certain other affiliated public vehicles
- Member of board of advisors, University of Pennsylvania Stuart Weitzman School of Design
- Member of board of directors, White Plains Hospital

Qualifications

- BA, University of Pennsylvania
- BS, Wharton School of Business
- Graduated magna cum laude, Phi Beta Kappa

MANAGEMENT EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE



Michele Bareggi Group Chief Executive Officer



Anders Malmström Group Chief Financial Officer

Michele joined Athora in September 2017 as CEO and is responsible for the coordination and direction of the Management Executive Committee and the Athora group subsidiaries. He is a member of the supervisory board of Athora Netherlands, SRLEV and Proteq.

Michele was formerly Managing Director and Head of Morgan Stanley's European insurance and pensions business as well as being responsible for Morgan Stanley's reinsurance operations globally. He joined Morgan Stanley in 2010 and also led the fixed income capital markets division in Italy.

Prior to joining Morgan Stanley he was employed by Nomura Holdings, Inc. from 2008 to 2010, where he co-ran the insurance business for Europe, Japan and Asia. From 2003 to 2008, he worked with Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc., where he held various senior roles covering Italian and other European insurance companies on the asset side as well as capital management, DCM/ECM and reinsurance solutions.

Before joining Lehman Brothers, he held senior roles at J.P. Morgan and Credit Suisse First Boston. Michele holds a B.Sc. (cum laude) in economics, statistics and social sciences from Università Bocconi Milano. Anders joined Athora in May 2021 as Group CFO and is responsible for the group's financial operations and organisation, including accounting, tax, capital and investment activities. In addition, he oversees our actuarial function and ensures appropriate reporting to the board of directors and shareholders/stakeholders. He joined Athora from his role as senior executive director and CFO at Equitable Holdings Inc. in New York.

Anders was formerly senior executive director and CFO at AXA US, New York from 2012 to 2018, leading the preparation for listing on the New York Stock Exchange. Prior to this Anders performed a range of global roles including managing director and head of life at AXA Winterthur from 2009 to 2012 and senior vice president and head of product development group life at Swiss Life in Zurich from 2003 to 2008. This followed several years as project manager and team leader of a group of actuaries and developers in the field of individual life insurance at Swiss Life Zurich.

Anders holds a master's degree in Mathematics, Physics and Astronomy from the University of Basel, a PhD in Mathematics from the University of Aachen (magna cum laude) and joined the Stanford Executive Program at Stanford University Graduate School of Business.



Stefan Spohr Group Chief Operating Officer



Lukas Ziewer Group Chief Risk Officer

Previously COO of Athora Netherlands, Stefan was appointed to the MEC in March 2022 to take responsibility for the overall operational agenda for the group, including IT, change, facilities, procurement and transformation office functions. Stefan also leads our multi-year, company-wide transformation programme to deliver the Athora target operating model and ways of working for the future.

Prior to joining Athora in 2018, Stefan was a Senior Advisor for Apollo Global Management from 2016, Global Head of Industries at Willis Towers Watson from 2015 to 2016, CEO, UK & Ireland and Senior Vice President, Business Transformation at Bearing Point from 2005 to 2013 and held previous roles at A.T. Kearney and Swiss Re.

Stefan graduated with an MIA from Columbia University New York and holds a BA in Economics (Highest Distinction) from Indiana University Bloomington. Lukas manages the overall risk agenda for the group and reports jointly to the Group CEO and the Risk Committee chair to ensure independence in the operations of the group risk function. [His team supports the wider risk community across Athora in collectively identifying and managing risks related to the Athora businesses.] He is a member of the board of directors of Athora Lebensversicherung AG, Athora Ireland plc and Athora Lux Invest Management S.à r.l.

Lukas joined Athora in September 2018 from MetLife where he was most recently CRO for its operations in Europe, the Middle East and Africa. Prior to that he was a partner at Oliver Wyman's European insurance practice where he led the financial risk group. He has also held a number of consulting roles.

Lukas has published widely on topics such as financial risk management, economic capital, and hedging financial guarantees, and presents regularly at international industry forums and seminars.

He has an MSc in Theoretical Physics, is a qualified actuary (Aktuar DAV), and has attained professional qualifications in financial analysis (CFA) and in risk management (PRM).



Henrik Matsen Group Head of Growth



Eric Viet Regional CEO – Belgium & Germany

Henrik leads a wide range of organisational functions and activities aimed at driving the long-term growth of Athora. This includes the overall reinsurance business unit, the M&A function and the new business and pension function which supports business development and growth across the group.

Henrik is co-founder and Group Head of Growth, responsible for the organisation's growth strategy. Henrik oversees Athora's reinsurance and pension risk transfer business and all M&A activities and he coordinates new business product development and distribution. He is a member of the board of directors of Athora Life Re, Athora Ireland plc and Athora Belgium.

Henrik was a co-founder and director of RMR Advisors Ltd, an investment and advisory firm which provided insurancerelated advisory services to Apollo, Athene and their affiliates from 2012 until the creation of Athora. He previously worked at UBS in its financial institutions group investment banking division, and in FICC Structuring.

Henrik holds a B.Sc. degree from the Norwegian School of Economics and Business Administration (NHH) in Bergen, Norway. Eric was appointed Regional CEO – Belgium & Germany in June 2020. He is responsible for Athora's insurance operations in Belgium and Germany. He is chairman of the supervisory boards of Athora Lebensversicherung and Athora Pensionskasse in Germany, and chairman of the board of Athora Belgium.

Eric joined Athora in March 2018, having initially worked as an advisor to Athora from June 2017 on transactions in the Belgian market. Prior to Athora, Eric was managing director and global head of financial institution in global markets at Société Générale Corporate Investment Banking (SGCIB) in London. He joined SGCIB in 2008 in the fixed income global markets as head of illiquid asset distribution. Prior to that, Eric founded Aleva Ltd in 2006, a UK pension buy-out company. From 1996 to 2006, Eric worked at JPMorgan, London as managing director, European head of insurance pension and head of fixed income for Belgium, France and Luxembourg, and previously in Paris as general manager of J.P.Morgan & Cie S.A. in charge of Global Markets. Before JPMorgan, Eric worked at Credit Commercial de France as head of bond syndication, and at Banque Indosuez in internal audit.

Eric holds a degree in engineering from the Ecole Polytechnique in Palaiseau, France.



Ralf Schmitt Group General Counsel

Ralf is Group General Counsel at Athora with responsibility for legal, compliance and governance across the group. He is also CEO and Chairman of the management board of Athora Deutschland Holding GmbH & Co. KG (ADKG) as well as Vice Chairman and member of the supervisory boards of Athora Lebensversicherung AG and Athora Pensionskasse AG.

Ralf has more than 18 years of experience in corporate M&A at international law firms such as DLA Piper and Dewey & LeBoeuf and within the investment banking division of Citigroup.

A German-qualified lawyer, Ralf also holds an honours degree from Frankfurt's Goethe University.

We made the following changes to the MEC during the reporting period:

- In April 2021 following the departure of interim Group CFO, Tom Stoddard, we were pleased to announce the appointment of a permanent Group Chief Financial Officer, Anders Malmström, who joined Athora on 1 May 2021 and became a member of the MEC. Anders brings extensive insurance, financial and public market experience to the group. He was formerly the CFO of Equitable Holdings, Inc.
- Following the departure of Philip Proost as Group Chief Operating Officer in December 2021, Stefan Spohr was appointed to the role and became a member of the MEC effective 30 March 2022.

2.3 Risk and capital management

2.3.1 A description of the risk management process and procedures to effectively identify, measure, manage and report on risk exposures

Robust risk management is central to Athora's success as a modern insurance and reinsurance group. It is a key element of our business model and therefore risk management is the responsibility of all Athora employees. Our ERM framework was devised to ensure that we identify, understand and assess risks against levels defined as acceptable. As we understand the risks we face, we can design and implement appropriate controls. The aim is to enable every employee to see how they contribute to the effective management of risk. Risks are managed from multiple perspectives, including economic, regulatory and accounting. The ERM framework includes risk appetite and strategy, risk governance, risk culture, risk measurement and assessment, risk management and monitoring, risk reporting and insights, and data and technology. The ERM framework lays the foundations for managing risk throughout Athora.

Athora uses a forward-looking risk management system and manages individual risks through a continuous cycle of identification, assessment, management and monitoring, with regular review. **Risk appetite and strategy**

Athora's risk appetite and risk strategy are integral parts of our business strategy and we manage all risks with the purpose of ensuring a good customer outcome. They determine how we select the risks we can control and from which we can extract value, in line with our mission. Risk appetite and risk strategy are translated into specific policies and limits for the relevant risk types. Specific strategies apply for each risk type, but three fundamental principles apply generally:

1. Targeted risk selection

- We take on long-dated life-insurance liabilities in European markets if these can be pursued within risk appetite and provide a risk-adjusted return in line with strategy.
- Asset selection for return seeking investments is determined by our access and opportunity to capture illiquidity premiums and creditrisk premiums.
- Risks outside risk appetite are proactively mitigated and traded out; our incentive systems discourage short-term, unrewarded risk-taking.

2. Skilled risk-taking

- Our active risk management is a core competency that helps to promote confidence in our stakeholders (including the Board, supervisors, shareholders and rating agencies).
- We only take risks for which the appropriate skills, capabilities and resources exist in the organisation.



Enterprise Risk Management Framework

27

• We measure risk on a timely and reliable basis to achieve a predictable risk profile and promote conscious trade-offs.

3. Cohesive risk management

- Risk is to be managed consistently across the business. Aggregated risk is ultimately owned at the group level.
- A core test of any successful business case and decision is the assessment of how a proposed activity fits into our risk appetite.
- We manage the fungibility of capital to increase diversification benefits and support risk taking wherever it is value accretive.

Athora's risk universe is a comprehensive set of risk categories and sub-categories. All our

businesses use a consistent approach to facilitate a common understanding of risk, risk aggregation and reporting.

We use risk appetite statements to indicate our appetite for certain risks. These are set at group level to manage the aggregated risk profile across the group. At an overall level, Athora's risk preference can be categorised using three levels:

- desired risks that are core to the business model and are underpinned by proactive risk and capital management;
- tolerated risks that we incur as a result of the business model but mitigate and manage to reduce; or
- **undesired risks** that we will seek to avoid or fully eliminate where possible.

Risk type	Risk definition	Risk preference
Strategic risk	The risk of deviations from the envisaged strategy and/or changes in either the external environment or business enablers requiring changes in the business model.	Tolerated ¹
Market risk	Includes the risk of loss or adverse change in the financial situation resulting (directly or indirectly) from fluctuations in the level and volatility of market prices of assets, liabilities and financial instruments.	Undesired/tolerated ²
Credit risk	The risk of loss resulting from an obligor's potential inability or unwillingness to fully meet its contractual obligations to Athora.	Desired
Liquidity risk	The risk that a firm, though solvent, either does not have sufficient financial resources available to enable it to meet its obligations as they fall due or can secure them only at excessive cost.	Undesired
Underwriting and Reserving risk	Underwriting risk is the risk of incurring financial losses from assumptions deviating from expectation. It includes mortality, longevity, morbidity, policyholder behaviour, and expense risks. Reserving risk is the risk of mis-estimation or lack of control surrounding reserving activities.	Tolerated
Operational risk	The risk of loss resulting from external events or from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems.	Tolerated
Compliance risk	The risk of legal or regulatory sanctions, material financial loss or loss to reputation Athora may suffer as a result of its failure to comply with the laws, regulations, rules and codes of conduct applicable to its business activities.	Undesired
Tax risk	The risk of incurring unplanned and/or unexpected tax liabilities, for instance, due to changes in practice or interpretation; or flawed tax advice.	Undesired
Reputational risk	Risk of potential for negative publicity, public perception or uncontrollable events to have an adverse impact on Athora's reputation.	Undesired

Risk type	Risk definition	Risk preference
Emerging risk	A newly developing or changing risk which is perceived to have a potentially significant impact on Athora's financial strength, competitive position or reputation. Emerging risk may not be fully understood yet or accounted for in traditional ways (e.g. terms and conditions, pricing, reserving or capital setting).	No collective risk appetite set as emerging risks will vary over time

1 Most strategic risks are undesired (governance, sustainability and people and culture) but there is appetite to take on transaction and talent risk in order to achieve the group's strategy.

2 Most market risks are undesired (foreign exchange, interest rate, public equity), but some specific market risks can be tolerated (spreads, alternatives)

We set out qualitative risk appetite statements internally for each risk in the risk universe to provide direction as to how the risk appetite statement indicator is to be interpreted. We also use a quantitative risk appetite dashboard that shows all the limits from the risk policies in one place. We report on these qualitative and quantitative dashboards quarterly to the group Board Risk Committee.

Risk governance

Athora governs risk through: risk policies and business standards; risk oversight committees; and clear roles, responsibilities and delegated authority. Good governance ensures that directors and executives have a shared understanding of risk, appropriate to their role and responsibilities.

Specific Board committees focusing on risk provide the Board a means for understanding how best to monitor, manage and mitigate risks to which the group is exposed—in particular the forward-looking aspects relating to Athora's business strategy. This is supported by the Group Chief Risk Officer reporting to the Board Risk Committee.

The assignment of responsibility to key stakeholders across the group is guided by the following risk governance principles:

- risk can be allocated by category, e.g. strategic, market, credit, liquidity, etc;
- executive owners of each risk category are identified;
- executive owners are responsible for the aggregated view of that risk;
- structure and processes ensure that risks are managed within pre-defined appetite;

- management includes delegation of authority to take risks and consideration of the riskreward balance;
- good practice requires that each risk category has an appropriate management forum (this is not intended to imply that there should be a separate management forum for each risk category); and
- risk management services may be outsourced to third parties, including to Athora Shared Services, but responsibility for risk management cannot be outsourced.

We have implemented a *three lines of defence* governance model to ensure that risks are clearly identified, owned and managed. For further information see the corporate governance section of our 2021 Annual Report.

Together with specialist functions such as compliance and actuarial, the risk management function develops and operates methodologies to identify, manage and mitigate designated types of risks. The risk management function monitors overall risks, including specific risktypes, and escalates through the system of governance any such risks that may exceed Athora's risk appetite. The risk management system is embedded in decision-making across the business, including for capital, insurance, reinsurance and investment management.

Within the Athora group at legal entity level, risk management functions/owners exist with staffing responsibilities and governance structures tailored to each entity. The business has clear ownership of risk-taking/risk-avoidance decisions, and reports to the group on appetite, decisions and outcomes.

Risk culture

Athora is committed to building and maintaining a strong risk culture, in which the collective ability to identify and understand, openly discuss, and act on our current and future risks is embedded across the business. Having a strong risk culture is seen by the Board as a key driver of the long-term sustainability and profitability of our business and is therefore relevant to all our employees. It enables ethical and responsible riskbased decisions to be made, considering the best interests of the organisation, our customers and other stakeholders over the long term.

The following critical and reinforcing elements describe the strong risk culture which we seek to have in Athora:

- a clear and well communicated risk strategy;
- collaboration and information sharing;
- rapid and "no blame" escalation of threats or concerns;
- constructive challenge of actions and preconceptions at all levels;
- visible and consistent role-modelling by senior leaders and managers; and
- incentives which encourage people to "do the right thing" in the long-term interest of the whole business.

Risk culture is measured by an annual survey. The purpose of the survey is to capture how our risk culture influences our risk management practices across business units and functions.

We seek to attract and retain the highest-quality talent in the industry. The effectiveness of Athora's risk management depends on a strong risk culture and robust risk management practices.

Risk assessment and measurement

We maintain activities that allow us to identify, assess, and quantify known and emerging risks. These processes allow us to consider the extent to which potential events may have an impact on the achievement of our objectives. Athora uses qualitative and quantitative approaches, processes and tools to identify, assess and measure risk, and determine the appropriate capital requirements. We have an emerging risk policy in place, and emerging risks are regularly considered within risk governance committees.

Risk management and monitoring

Our responses involve both business-as-usual activities and action plans where current efforts are not sufficient to reduce risk to an acceptable level. We are applying and embedding a coordinated series of processes and tools across risk management and assurance activities to test effectiveness and validate controls and mitigation activities:

- control testing—a key component of the internal control framework;
- model validation activities—includes independent validation of key models and assumptions;
- validation of material external data;
- independent review and oversight of outsourcing due diligence processes; and
- reporting of risks to the Board and relevant committees.

Monitoring of risks comprises ongoing monitoring activities in the normal course of management as well as separate evaluations. Group risk management provides guidance on quarterly monitoring in line with the risk strategy and appetite, and risk tolerances and limits set out in the risk policies. Consistent monitoring across the group allows for aggregation and active monitoring of risks at group level.

Risk reporting and insights

The management and Board committees are part of Athora's overall governance framework for ensuring appropriate reporting and escalation of risk to their ultimate owner, the Board. Regular reporting includes a Chief Risk Officer (CRO) summary, risk landscape, risk dashboards and emerging risks, among other items.

Regulatory reports—such as the Commercial Insurers' Solvency Self-Assessment (CISSA) and Group Solvency Self-Assessment (GSSA) (BMA requirements) and Own Risk and Solvency Assessment (ORSA) (Solvency II requirement) —provide relevant information to the Board and its committees, and to management, to ensure risks are being managed and escalated appropriately. These reports also play an important role in supporting strategic decision making and strategy development. Risk-reporting seeks to provide a comprehensive picture of risks across layers and risk types. The key focus is on delivering actionable insights from risk information and providing risk transparency.

Data and technology

Athora takes a group-wide approach using tools and processes for establishing and maintaining the confidence in and integrity of risk data and technology. The ERM Risk data and technology aligns with Athora's Data Governance Council (DGC) Data policies & standards and the DGC's objective of maximising the value of data as a business asset; respecting business needs, group/local regulatory requirements, innovation and efficiencies.

2.3.2 A description of how the insurance group's risk management and solvency self-assessment systems are implemented and integrated into the insurance group's operations: including strategic planning and organisational and decision-making process

Athora's GSSA is completed annually as part of our risk management system. The GSSA is a governance, risk management and solvency assessment exercise with its findings documented in a report to the Board and MEC, and submitted to the BMA annually. The objective of the GSSA is to deliver a set of processes constituting a tool for decision making and strategic analysis for Board and management, in line with the Group Rules and the Group Solvency Rules and internal requirements.

Athora's solvency self-assessment processes align with the risk and capital management ambitions to withstand adverse developments, with a forward-looking view of capital deployment. Our solvency self-assessment process is part of a cycle of management and strategic decision-making activities, referred to as our *strategic planning cycle*. The integration of data and data quality management through this cycle is a current priority for the development of the risk management system. To complement the strategic planning cycle, the solvency self-assessment process also includes an analysis of the strategies for operations (including data and technology and change) and human resources. This approach roots risk and solvency self-assessment in the decision-making processes and provides for the impact of these assessments to feed through as changes in the strategies.

2.3.3 A description of the relationship between the solvency self-assessment, solvency needs, and capital and risk management systems of the insurance group

The solvency self-assessment provides an overview of the capital and risk management systems and their implementation at Athora. This includes the outcome of the group's stress testing and scenario analysis framework and assessment of the appropriateness of the regulatory capital requirement based on the group's economic capital framework. The solvency self-assessment concludes with an assessment of the overall solvency needs which are an input into the annual review of the Risk Appetite and Strategy Policy.

2.3.4 A description of the solvency selfassessment approval process, including the level of oversight and independent verification by the parent board and senior executives

The GSSA report is prepared by the Group Risk function with contributions from other group functions and business units. The Board and MEC have oversight of the contributions of the group functions through the regular Board and management committees and the draft GSSA report is submitted to the Board Risk Committee for review. Oversight is also provided through the following:

- Group Risk enterprise risk management coordinates and reviews all inputs into the process; and
- Internal Audit prepares and executes an audit plan (IA Plan) annually which is approved by the Audit Committee. Internal Audit adopts a risk-based approach in the development of its IA Plan and continuously considers the planned audits in light of changes in the business, the external environment and emerging risks. The GSSA process is considered part of the audit planning process and is audited in accordance with the risk-based planning cycle.

2.4 Internal controls

2.4.1 A description of the internal control system

A system of internal controls is fundamental to the safe and sound management of the group. Effective internal controls play a critical role in helping Athora protect and enhance shareholder value by reducing the possibility of unexpected losses or damages to our reputation. Athora has an Internal Control Framework (ICF) Policy describing the system of internal controls and uses it to mitigate the risk of unexpected events. The ICF is based on key principles of:

- governance;
- roles and responsibilities;
- risk identification and assessment;
- control activities;
- testing and assurance;
- monitoring and reporting, and
- skills, resources and tools.

The ICF, established by the Board, has been adopted in order to support the group in executing robust and effective internal controls over the risks to which we are exposed in conducting our business and management activities while supporting strategic decision making.

To ensure this is done in a consistent and repeatable way, group tools and guidance have been developed and issued for each part of Athora to use and apply in its own business. Through this approach, operational standardisation and consistent reporting and management of risks, controls can be embedded and matured across Athora, creating suitable bottom up risk and control assessment.

2.4.2 A description of how the compliance function of the insurance group is executed

Athora's compliance function is a core component of the internal control system and its duties and responsibilities are within the second line of defence at AHL. Group Compliance is an independent function headed up by the Group Head of Compliance (GHOC) and supported by a Manager and an Associate. The GHOC, appointed in July 2020, allows the Board to discharge their duties regarding monitoring and compliance by an independent function. The role reports directly to the Group General Counsel, a member of the MEC, and provides quarterly updates to the AHL Audit Committee, a sub-committee of the Board.

The GHOC has extensive experience in control functions in the financial services sector, as well as extensive senior leadership experience in business functions.

The Group Compliance function is supported by local business units that maintain fully staffed and capable compliance functions. Local compliance teams are responsible for implementing group and local policies and taking steps to embed controls and processes to manage compliance risks. The structure takes effect by the local heads of compliance maintaining a dotted line to the GHOC and being responsible for the provision of annual risk assessment and plans. Quarterly reporting is delivered to the GHOC by the local HoC's which focuses on the progress against plan and static risk assessment reporting.

In Athora, Group Compliance manages compliance activities using group-wide compliance policies and frameworks, including specific control objectives, and supports the business units with their implementation. In order to be able to perform its duties, the compliance function has full access rights to all information, documents and data; for Athora Netherlands the process is different as structured information is exchanged via monthly forums established for that purpose.

In addition to the key tasks set out in the Compliance Framework, the compliance management program comprises the following additional elements: compliance culture and business integrity, compliance training and communication.

To assess how changes in the legal and regulatory environment can impact the group's operations, Group Compliance monitors the regulatory landscape to identify relevant changes and assesses potential impacts on the group and the business units. To support this process, business unit compliance functions report to Group Compliance on any significant changes in their legal environment. In addition to the above, Group Compliance and the compliance organisation regularly advise and train the management and employees of group companies on compliance risk areas.

Group Compliance also owns the internal speaking-up policy alongside a speak-up facility allowing employees to report anonymously in case they observe any potentially unlawful or improper behaviour.

2.5 Internal audit

Internal Audit function

As the third line of defence, the Internal Audit function assists management and the Audit Committee of the Board in protecting the group's assets, reputation and sustainability by independently and objectively evaluating the effectiveness of internal controls, risk management and governance processes.

Internal Audit's main tasks and responsibilities

- Prepare and execute a risk-based audit plan which is approved by the Audit Committee.
- Identify, and agree with management, opportunities to improve internal controls, risk management and governance processes and verify that such improvements are implemented within a reasonable period of time.
- Issue periodic reports to management and the Audit Committee, summarising the progress and results of the annual audit plan, as well as on the sufficiency of Internal Audit resources.
- Assist in the investigation of any significant suspected fraudulent activities within the group and notify management and the Audit Committee of the results.
- Consider the scope of work of the external auditors and regulators, as appropriate, for the purpose of providing optimal audit coverage to the organisation at a reasonable overall cost.
- Coordinate and work together with other control and monitoring functions (e.g. Risk Management, Compliance and external auditors).
- Execute audits on the functioning of the first and second line of defence.
- Maintain a professional audit staff (of an adequate size relative to the size and nature of the organisation and the remit of the Internal Audit function) with sufficient knowledge, skills, experience, and professional certifications.
- Ensure management and the Audit Committee are kept informed of emerging trends and successful practices in internal auditing.
- Ensure the audit work conforms to the Institute of Internal Auditors or other regulatory bodies and Athora group standards.
- Ensure the principles of integrity, objectivity, confidentiality and competency are applied and upheld.

Independence and objectivity of the Internal Audit function

The Internal Audit function is independent of senior management, which has responsibility for

the first and second lines of defence, and is therefore able to provide independent assurance opinions on the effectiveness of the systems of internal control, risk management and governance.

To provide for the independence of Internal Audit, its personnel report to the Group Chief Internal Auditor, who reports directly to the Chairman of the Audit Committee and administratively to the CEO.

Internal Audit executes its duties freely and objectively in accordance with the Institute of Internal Auditors' International Standards for the Professional Practices of Internal Audit, including the Code of Ethics, as well as with Athora group policies and procedures. Internal Audit avoids any conflicts of interest and accesses the expertise and knowledge necessary to undertake work in respect of specialist business functions.

2.6 Actuarial function

The actuarial function is a control function within Athora's risk management function and independently oversees the calculation of technical provisions, including the appropriateness and quality of methodologies, models, assumptions and data used in the calculation of technical provisions. As part of Athora's internal control system, the actuarial function works in close collaboration with an independent Approved Group Actuary, which is a reserved role under the Bermuda Insurance Act 1978, as amended, to provide an opinion on the group's technical provisions which is submitted as part of the annual filing to the BMA.

The group's actuarial department is led by the Group Chief Actuary and leads the calculation of technical provisions, including the appropriateness and quality of methodologies, models, assumptions and data. The actuarial department provides technical expertise and assurance to key processes across the business, such as reserving, pricing, underwriting, capital modelling and input to acquisition due diligence. In performing such activities, the Group Chief Actuary is supported by actuarial and risk professionals across the group and the local business units, operating in areas such as Actuarial Reporting, Modelling, Pricing, Reinsurance etc. The teams are structured to facilitate a wide understanding of actuarial risks within Athora's portfolios, ensure an effective peer review framework as well as providing adequate controls and governance.

The Group Chief Actuary has unrestricted access to the Board and provides actuarial advice to the Audit Committee through regular formal reports and presentations.

2.7 Outsourcing

2.7.1 A description of the insurance group's outsourcing policy and information on any key or important functions that have been outsourced

Athora manages external outsourcing in accordance with all applicable regulatory requirements. Our Outsourcing Policy establishes requirements to ensure that where we use an internal or external service provider, we:

- Understand and document the value of using a third party.
- Review the capability of the third party to deliver the services we require to our requirements, service levels and standards.
- Contract at a fair price with appropriate terms and conditions, including obligation on the parties to comply with all legal and regulatory obligations.
- Manage the delivery of the ongoing service to monitor performance and support any required remediation.
- Meet legal and regulatory obligations in particular the identification and management of critical or important operational functions or activities.

In particular, the policy is designed so that outsourcing of critical or important operational functions or activities does not lead to a reduction in direct management's responsibility for their successful delivery, including the quality of the service and of the control environment and governance which must be aligned to our agreed risk appetite, and that conflicts of interest are managed appropriately. Critical or important outsourcing attracts the highest level of rigour, including regulatory notification, performance and relationship reviews, regulatory compliance reviews, and risk and control assessments.

We complete due diligence for the selection of external vendors and third party supply arrangements and manage outsourcing risk by applying a framework and standards to establish controls and governance for example, disaster recovery and exit plans are regularly assessed to manage business continuity. Where appropriate, we have entered into service level agreements, which include an obligation on the parties to comply with all legal and regulatory obligations. Additionally, we ensure that any sub-outsourcing is overseen and managed in line with those service level agreements

We outsource many of the same activities as our peers. A range of the key or important functions outsourced include:

- IT services ranging from end-user services to data storage and includes agreements with Microsoft, T-systems and Integrity 360;
- Investments—Athora outsources management of certain parts of the group's investment portfolio to Apollo Asset Management Europe LLP and Generali, and certain investment operations functions to BNP. Athora Ireland also outsources certain asset management services to Kames Capital.
- Athora Netherlands outsources certain asset management services to ACTIAM (formerly owned by Athora Netherlands), which recently has been acquired by Cardano.

2.7.2 A description of the insurance group's material intra-group outsourcing

Alongside external service providers we also provide services from and to entities within Athora, primarily (but not exclusively) through service companies. We apply similar frameworks and standards to these services as our external service providers including formal service level agreements, identification of risk and process owners and monitoring of key controls.

Our material intra-group outsourcing arrangements include:

- Athora Belgium outsources certain IT services to Athora Ireland Services Ltd, such as network and infrastructure, IT security, end user computing, application support, finance systems and data services.
- Our German business unit outsources certain actuarial, risk and IT services to Athora Ireland Services Ltd. IT services outsourced include network and application support, IT security, end user computing and data services.

• Our Reinsurance business units outsource certain actuarial, risk, HR and IT services to Athora Ireland Services Ltd. IT services outsourced include network and application support, IT security, end user computing and data services.

2.8 Any other material information

There is no other material information to report.

3 RISK PROFILE

3.1 Material risks

Material risks that the insurance group is exposed to, including how these risks are measured and mitigated, and any material risk concentrations

Athora sets out the universe of risks that make up its risk profile in the Athora Risk Universe. The Risk Universe is reviewed at least annually but may be updated more frequently as new material risks arise, e.g. through new transactions or changes in the external environment.

The material risks that Athora is exposed to are described below.

Market risk

Definition

Market risk includes the risk of loss or of adverse change in the financial situation resulting, directly or indirectly, from fluctuations in the level and in the volatility of market prices of assets, liabilities and financial instruments. Market risk includes the following:

- Spread risk is the risk from any mismatch between the impact of credit spread changes on the value of assets and the valuation of the corresponding liabilities.
- Investment value risk is the risk of losses arising from potential discrepancies between an asset's carrying value on the balance sheet and the actual value that Athora would achieve if it sold or transferred such asset in a fair and market-consistent transaction with a third party. This is a typical risk within the Alternatives and Property investments, however, subject to compelling risk-return profile and underwriting features focused on downside protection, and they include property, infrastructure, other real

assets, as well as private common equity and hybrid capital in corporate entities.

 Other Asset/Liability Management (ALM)/ market risk is the risk of loss of adverse change in the financial situation resulting, directly or indirectly, from fluctuations in the level and the volatility of interest rates, inflation rates and currency exchange rates. This also includes public equity risk, for which Athora maintains low risk appetite.

Description

Athora aims to tightly limit balance sheet volatility from market risks, while pursuing returns from attractive investments. We have a low risk appetite for other ALM/Market risks, and a medium risk appetite for spread risk. We have a high risk appetite for Investment Value risk conditional to an appropriate valuation framework in place and solid underwriting features, including compelling idiosyncratic riskreturn profile, downside protection and fixedincome like profile.

Measurement and mitigation

Athora actively manages exposure to market risks with the group's ALM Risk Policy which is implemented locally by the business units. The business units define thresholds for interest rate, spread and currency risk according to the risk metrics and scenarios defined in the policy. Exposures are identified, actively monitored and reported to group on a monthly basis at a minimum. Athora uses regulatory frameworks and its internal risk measurement framework to monitor market risks. A group ALM working group takes place on a weekly basis for most business units with Group Risk, the Investment function and investment manager(s). The Group Risk Management Function steers and co-ordinates the overall ALM process and prompts ALM risk

management actions. Any risk-limit breaches are escalated to the appropriate governance bodies for remedy and mitigation.

Material risk concentrations

Athora has a Group ALM Risk Policy and a Group Credit Concentration and Counterparty Risk Policy to manage risk concentrations via risk limits in relation to market risks. These risks are monitored by both the group and local Risk Committees and reported and/or escalated to the MEC and Board Risk Committee.

The effectiveness of these risk mitigation techniques is assessed through continual monitoring of the underlying risk profile.

Underwriting (long-term insurance) and reserving risk

Definition

Underwriting risk is the risk of incurring financial losses from assumptions deviating from expectation. It includes mortality, longevity, morbidity, policyholder behaviour, and expense risks.

Reserving risk is the risk of mis-estimation or lack of control surrounding reserving activities.

Underwriting and reserving risk includes the following:

- Mortality risk is the risk/uncertainty of a sustained increase in mortality rates (level risk); the risk of unexpected volatility in mortality experience (volatility risk); and the risk of a decrease in the assumed rate of future mortality improvement (trend risk).
- Longevity risk is the risk/uncertainty of a sustained decrease in mortality rates (level risk); the risk of unexpected volatility in mortality experience (volatility risk); and the risk of an increase in the assumed rate of future mortality improvement (trend risk).
- Morbidity/disability risk is the risk/uncertainty of the actual morbidity and disability rates deviating from the ones expected.
- Policyholder behaviour risk is the risk/ uncertainty of the actual policyholder behaviour

surrounding policy options and guarantees deviating from the one expected. This includes lapse risk which is defined as the risk of a sustained increase in lapse rates (level risk); the risk of a sustained decrease in lapse rates (level risk); the risk of low levels of premium payment on flexible or recurrent single premium policies (level); the risk of unexpected volatility in lapse rates (volatility risk); and the risk of mass lapses (event risk).

 Expenses risk is the risk/uncertainty of a large one-off expense increase (event risk); and the risk of a sustained increase in expenses above the rate allowed for in pricing and reserving (level risk).

Description

Athora is exposed to underwriting/insurance risks as part of its business model. As Athora's business model is mainly aimed at providing a capital guarantee, the underwriting risk management is therefore focused on longevity risk as well as customer behaviour such as annuitisation. Athora has a medium appetite for underwriting risks in the Risk Universe.

Athora is exposed to the risk that reserves are insufficient to cover the group's liabilities, as a result of:

- unanticipated trends and/or developments for Athora's main risk drivers;
- operational risk impacting reserves calculation (wrong data extraction etc.);
- inherent uncertainties in estimating reserves;
- changes in regulations;
- legal risk.

Athora seeks high confidence in reserving adequacy based on the implementation of generally accepted reserving methodologies, fit for purpose reserving models/tools and robust reserving processes, controls and reconciliations validated by extensive risk management actions, in particular on assumptions, expert judgment, model, data quality and results. This also includes independent internal and external reviews.

The objective of the group is to mitigate its exposure to risk arising from these contracts through product design and selection; product,
geographical, and individual risk diversification; thorough underwriting, and through reinsurance. Underwriting risks at Athora are analysed but the process needs to mature and recommendations are included in this report.

Measurement and mitigation

Underwriting risk is one of the inherent risks when selling/servicing insurance products and quantifying accompanying reserves. The business units use several methods to assess and monitor insurance risk exposures both for individual types of risks insured and overall risks. These methods include internal risk measurement models, experience analyses, external data comparisons, sensitivity analyses, scenario analyses and stress testing.

Before taking on underwriting risks, business units must verify that they possess the core underwriting, product design, pricing, claims management and external risk transfer capabilities required to successfully and profitably accept the risk and either manage it or transfer it to a third party.

Limits for the acceptance of life (re)insurance risks are agreed as part of the business planning process and assessed as part of the ORSA/CISSA/ GSSA process.

Athora entities must have in place appropriate processes to ensure reliability and adequacy of data, assumptions, methods and models used in reserving activities.

Athora assesses, monitors and controls underwriting risks to be able to adequately price and reserve for such uncertainty, and to anticipate potential future adverse deviations. This is based on several methods including:

- regular experience investigations using actuarial professional practices and available internal data, complemented by external data such as industry analysis and benchmarking reports;
- regular reporting on the performance of key underwriting risks, including sensitivity analysis, and stress and scenario testing (the evolution of these risks is monitored in case of changes in macroeconomic conditions, regulation, competitor activity or socio-economic trends); and

- product reviews and portfolio analysis performed on a risk-based and periodic basis. The objective of a product review is to identify if any adjustments are required to premium, target group or underwriting guidelines; and
- implementing solutions to manage or transfer such risks where appropriate (e.g. reinsurance arrangements)
- Athora also uses longevity swaps for mitigating longevity risk.

Athora entities are required to have in place appropriate internal controls to meet the minimum control objectives for reserving risk including:

- model point data sign-off, subject to foureyes principle;
- key assumptions reviewed at appropriate management level committee and presented to the relevant Board committee;
- risk review the movement in the overall technical provisions on a quarterly basis.

Material risk concentrations

Athora entities must establish underwriting risk limits in line with the group limits and monitor these on at least a quarterly basis and escalate any breaches to Group Risk in line with the escalation procedure set out in the Group Risk Appetite and Strategy Policy.

Credit risk

Definition

Credit risk is the risk of loss resulting from an obligor's potential inability or unwillingness to fully meet its contractual obligations.

Default and migration risk (counterparties) is the risk arising from the probability that Athora's counterparty in a financial transaction might fail to fulfil its contractual obligations. Possible sources of counterparty default risk include reinsurance agreements, derivative contracts and cash deposits, among others.

Default and migration risk (investments) is the risk arising from the probability of a loss driven by a borrower's failure to repay a contractual loan obligation (default on interest and/or principal payment) or a borrower's deterioration in its creditworthiness (credit migration).

Description

Credit risk arises from a variety of investments considered strategic within Athora's Investment Universe, including investments into sovereign bonds, public corporate bonds, residential mortgage loans, private corporate loans, and commercial real estate debt. Athora accepts certain investment-related credit risk and is willing to take it on, subject to an appropriate risk-adjusted return on the capital employed. Athora assumes credit risks through its investment activities, via a targeted and well selected Strategic Asset Allocation (SAA) that is assessed and reviewed regularly in line with the risk strategy. In taking on this risk, Athora ensures to be adequately compensated, to avoid idiosyncratic concentrations and distinguish between price and default risk from credit exposures.

To assess credit ratings, Athora considers the ratings from the three main rating agencies (Standard & Poor's, Fitch and Moody's) with the ratings from ECAI rating agencies. The table below provides information regarding the credit risk exposure of the group by classifying IFRS assets at 31 December 2021 according to the Standard & Poor's credit ratings of the counterparties. AAA is the highest possible rating. Assets within the range of AAA to BBB are classified as investment grade. Assets rated BB or below are classified as below investment grade. Athora also invests in a wide range of assets that are not rated—these tend to be loans or mortgages where credit ratings are not customary for the asset class. The credit risk on unrated assets varies and Athora assesses this through the internal credit underwriting process, risk governance and performance monitoring of these assets.

Measurement and mitigation

Athora ensures that the investment activity and the resulting credit risk is managed to provide long-term value creation for our policyholders and stakeholders, while complying with regulatory requirements as per the prudent person principle, our risk appetite and strategy and internal financial risk policies. In this context, each investment is selected based on its specific strategic purpose, a tailored risk-return analysis and a comprehensive underwriting criteria review process.

According to our Investment Governance and Oversight Policy, only assets that are Boardapproved per the Athora Investment Universe are permitted. Credit concentration risk and counterparty risk are managed via our Credit Concentration and Counterparty Risk Policy. Additionally, Athora forms its own credit risk view via an internal credit rating assessment process for the majority of its private credit

€m	AAA	AA	Α	BBB	BB	≤ B	NR	Total
2021 Rating								
AFS - debt securities	12,296	6,971	6,215	3,157	134	242	5,217	34,232
Cash and cash equivalents	-	2	595	66	-	-	414	1,077
Reinsurance asset	-	1	13	-	-	-	20	34
Loans and advances due from banks	55	-	77	-	-	-	258	390
Loans and receivables	946	-	355	-	-	-	9,799	11,100
€m	AAA	AA	Α	BBB	BB	≤ B	NR	Total
€m 2020 Rating	AAA	AA	Α	BBB	BB	≤ B	NR	Total
	AAA 15,439	AA 8,953	A 6,808	BBB 3,705	BB 29	≤ B 21	NR 2,985	Total 37,940
2020 Rating								
2020 Rating AFS - debt securities	15,439	8,953	6,808	3,705	29	21	2,985	37,940
2020 Rating AFS - debt securities Cash and cash equivalents	15,439 28	8,953 133	6,808	3,705	29	21	2,985 19	37,940 1,251

investments. Similar to market risks, Athora monitors credit investment risk using both regulatory frameworks and an internal economic capital framework. Athora tests risk-adjusted return appropriateness against regulatory and economic capital consumptions. This process further enhances Athora's capabilities to monitor and risk manage private credit assets.

Material risk concentrations

Athora maintains and implements a Group Credit Concentration and Counterparty Risk Policy to manage potential material concentration and counterparty risks arising in its investment portfolio and outside of group risk appetite. These risks are monitored by both the group and local Risk Committees and reported and/or escalated to the MEC.

The identification of material risks and the effectiveness of proposed risk mitigation actions are assessed through continued monitoring of the composition and the credit risk profile of the investment portfolio

Liquidity risk

Definition

Liquidity risk is the risk that a firm, though solvent, either does not have sufficient financial resources available to enable it to meet its obligations as they fall due or can secure them only at excessive cost.

Description

All legal entities within the group are exposed to liquidity risk, however, the source and severity of liquidity risk may vary based on the nature of the entity's business activity. As such, entities assess their own sources of liquidity risk and ensure compliance with the Athora Group Liquidity Risk Policy and that liquidity management reflects all relevant risks.

The main sources of liquidity risk for the Athora entities include cash outflows related to expenses, financial and insurance obligations, derivative or similar collateral obligations and reinsurance collateral obligations. Policyholder behaviour and market risks might further cause strain on Athora's liquidity position. Athora entities identify and manage exposures to liquidity risk in accordance with the Athora Group Liquidity Risk Policy, which is adopted and implemented locally by the business units.

Measurement and mitigation

Business units define liquidity risk appetite, limits and metrics in line with the Athora Group Liquidity Risk Policy requirements. Athora's insurance entities assess their liquidity sources and needs, including under stress scenarios, over the short-, medium- and long-term against the established appetite levels of liquidity risk. Liquidity stresses are calibrated for both market and underwriting risks. Athora holding and service entities determine their liquidity risk appetite based on the forecasted annual expense spend net of any contractually agreed income.

Liquidity is actively monitored locally and reported to group on a quarterly basis at a minimum. Such reporting includes liquidity positions as of point in time as well as reporting of liquidity sources and uses under stress. If a liquidity risk limit is breached, escalation procedures are in place such that local and group management are informed.

The group does not hold risk capital against liquidity risk. Liquidity risk is managed by holding an appropriate proportion of the assets in liquid form. The proportion is based on cash flow projections, stress testing and holding appropriate buffers in respect of the liquidity risks that are applicable to each entity.

The key sources of liquidity risk for AHL include increased expenses, reduced remittances from operating entities and inability to access new financing. However, the most critical liquidity risk to AHL is related to the capital support which might be required for its subsidiaries. Consequently, AHL is focused on maintaining a robust and stable liquidity profile. Liquidity resources available to AHL, in addition to cash and cash equivalents, include committed equity and a revolving credit facility. These resources constitute a significant liquidity buffer for AHL and its subsidiaries.

Material risk concentrations

Athora has a Group Liquidity Risk Policy to manage risk concentrations in relation to liquidity. These risks are monitored by both the group and local Risk Committees and reported and/or escalated to the MEC and Board Risk Committee. The effectiveness of these risk mitigation techniques is assessed through continual monitoring of the underlying risk profile.

Operational risk

Definition

Operational risk is defined as the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or from external events. Operational risk includes the following:

- Information security risk is the risk that the confidentiality, integrity and availability of the organisation's assets are compromised, due to inappropriate access, modification or loss.
- Data risk is the risk that data stored and processed is incomplete, inaccurate, inconsistent or insecure across Athora leading to impaired ability to provide services and produce management and financial information in a correct and timely manner.
- HR risk is the risk of failures in the processes related to our human resources, including risk of unethical staff (not including fraud), inexperienced or incapable staff, training, retention and (internal) communication failures. (HR risk does not include key person risk as this is captured under talent risk.)
- Third party risk is the risk of losses/damage due to issues with outsourcing partners and suppliers, including events such as bankruptcy, disruption of services, standards of service level agreements not upheld, and abuse of power.
- Business continuity risk is the risk of failure to continue the delivery of products or services at acceptable predefined levels following disruptive incidents.
- Business process risk is the risk that occurs through ineffective or inefficient processes.
- Distribution channels risk is the risk of failures in distribution channels, including the risk of inexperienced or incapable brokers/agents.
- Financial reporting risk is the risk of inadequacy or failures in processes, people or systems responsible for financial reporting.

- Change risk is the risk arising from the inability of the business to manage changes in a timely and controlled manner.
- Model risk is the risk of potential loss (financial loss, reputational damage) as a consequence of poor decisions that could be principally based on the output of models (due to errors in the development, implementation or use of such models).

Description

Athora has low risk appetite for financial reporting risk, model risk, HR risk, business continuity risk, business processes risk, information security risk and data risk. Athora currently has medium risk appetite for distribution channels risk, third party risk and change risk.

Operational risk can arise from a variety of sources:

- a failure of the control environment, either internally or a third party's;
- a failure to adhere to internal policies; and
- external threats, such as a cyber attack.

Operational risks are identified through the following processes:

- risk appetite reporting, through the qualitative and quantitative risk appetite dashboards;
- risk and control self-assessments, both regular and deep dive assessments, through the implementation and maturing of the Internal Control Framework;
- risk event reporting;
- scenario analysis; and
- operational risk capital assessment.

Measurement and mitigation

Methodology and guidance for assessing the potential inherent and residual risk impacts that might arise from operational risk (including but not limited to; customer, operational, regulatory, reputational, and financial) has been issued by the group. This guidance has been developed and implemented as an appendix to the Group Operational Risk Policy. This ensures that a common methodology can be used for the assessment and treatment of risks across the group.

In order to manage operational risk, Athora has developed the following risk policies to manage Operational Risk: Internal Control Framework, Operational Risk, Outsourcing Risk and Model Risk. Risk owners have developed additional standards to further manage operational risk beneath these policies. Athora group has been implementing standard guidance and tools to support the consistent implementation of the Internal Control Framework to improve the identification and ongoing management of operational risk during 2021 and beyond.

Athora has established a group-level working group to monitor operational risk. This forum meets quarterly and supports the Group Risk Committee in the monitoring of operational risk.

Risk culture influences the management of all risks but can have a particularly strong influence on the management of operational risk (and compliance) and focus continues on assessing and promoting an effective risk culture at Athora. Risk training is being developed to create a broader awareness of risk management which will be rolled out across the entire group in 2022 via a computer based training (CBT) module. Operational Risk Community and Group Functional Risk Champion forums have been established. A Group Risk Event Standard has been implemented with activity in plan to raise awareness to ensure identification. capture and escalation. Risk culture will remain a focus during 2022 with a number of initiatives taking place across the group. The Risk Culture Survey will be repeated to assess the ongoing maturity of risk culture at Athora.

Compliance risk

Definition

Compliance risk is the risk of legal or regulatory sanctions, material financial loss, or loss to reputation an undertaking may suffer as a result of not complying with laws, regulations and administrative provisions as applicable to its activities.

Description

Compliance risk includes the following categories:

- Financial crime: the risk that Athora does not have adequate policies and procedures with comprehensive and proportionate systems and controls in place to enable us to identify, assess, monitor and manage financial crime.
- Legal and regulatory: the risk of legal or regulatory sanctions, material financial loss or loss to reputation Athora may suffer as a result of failure to comply with laws, regulations rules and codes of conduct applicable to its business activities.
- Market integrity: the risk of losses or poor customer outcomes due to noncompliance with regulatory requirements, laws, contractual provisions, regulations, company rules and policies and failure to manage our consumer protection/conduct risk inherent in our processes.
- Customer conduct: the risk of loss or harm to customers arising from our products and services failing to deliver the contractual benefit or to meet the expected levels of service and support.
- Employee conduct: the risk of losses due to non-compliance with the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and underlying procedures (e.g. expense policies, gift and entertainment policies) and the whistleblowing procedure (excludes financial crime.)
- Privacy: the risk of losses due to unlawful processing of data of natural persons or the inability to accommodate data subject rights.

Compliance risk can arise from a variety of sources:

- a failure of the control environment;
- the pace of regulatory change may exceed the capacity of the firm to identify new requirements and make the necessary changes to systems and processes within the required time limits; and
- a lack of understanding by the business owners as to Athora's legal and policy requirements.

Measurement and mitigation

To obtain a holistic view of compliance risk, a compliance risk assessment is conducted based on both a 'top down' and 'bottom up' assessment of the compliance risks in each business unit, which incorporates consideration of several inputs. The group risk assessment includes engagement with the Board and senior management, as well as engagement with, and oversight of, business units.

The compliance risk assessment is a key process to determine the compliance risks which pose the most significant threats to the group and covers the key business activities, functions and compliance universe which fall within the scope of the Compliance Function. The risk assessment process will inform the following year's compliance annual plan and monitoring program.

The assessment process considers as many factors as possible, including the following:

- compliance universe/compliance obligations register—compliance with new and existing regulation;
- horizon scanning—anticipating new regulatory, social or industry trends and estimating how these will impact the business;
- system or business changes;
- regulatory findings or enforcement;
- compliance monitoring outcomes;
- Internal Audit findings; and
- risk and control self-assessments.

In order to manage this risk Athora has adopted a Board-approved Group Compliance Framework. The Framework documents the policies, procedures and processes for compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations. Athora's policies contain key requirements to ensure clarity on our compliance obligations. The Framework is supported by a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics which applies across the Athora group. This Code sets the standards of ethical business conduct expected of Athora's stakeholders and employees. Training for all employees is provided on key topics such as the Code, financial crime and privacy.

Other risks

Strategic risk

Strategic risk is the risk of deviations from the envisaged strategy and/or changes in either

the external environment or business enablers requiring changes in the business model.

Strategic risks are identified through Board and management discussion about the objectives and direction of the organisation and the risks to achieving its strategic objectives. The quarterly strategic risk appetite dashboard is used to identify and discuss strategic risks with management and risks that are assessed as outside of risk appetite are reported to the AHL Risk Committee. Actions to address these risks and bring them back into appetite are documented as part of the Path to Green process. This process defines clear actions, owners and timelines to bring the risk profile within appetite.

Strategic risks are assessed both qualitatively and quantitatively, depending on the nature of the risk and deep dive risk identification exercises are conducted on the direction of management where necessary.

Tax risk

Tax risk is the risk of incurring unplanned and/or unexpected tax liabilities, for instance, due to changes in practice or interpretation; or flawed tax advice.

Athora shows tax risk as a distinct category of risk on its Risk Universe to demonstrate its commitment to control tax risk and in response to the visible profile that tax has from both an investor and board perspective but also from a tax authority and public perspective.

Athora has no appetite for tax crimes and low appetite for tax risk in general and aims to minimise the risk of inadvertent non-compliance with tax obligations through embedding tax risk management into important decisions and dayto-day operations. Athora is committed to tax compliance that is focused on complete and timely tax filings in all jurisdictions in which we operate.

Athora has a Tax Control Framework in place which sets out how tax risk is managed.

Reputational risk

Reputational risk is the risk of potential for negative publicity, public perception or uncontrollable events to have an adverse impact on Athora's reputation. Athora's reputation can be damaged by a wide range of causes, including data loss, regulatory changes, regulatory fines etc. To protect its reputation pro-actively, Athora has established communication approaches, media monitoring programmes and crisis media plans in each of the jurisdictions in which it operates. Marketing/ customer service teams in each jurisdiction monitor customer reviews and (where applicable) customer NPS scores.

The Corporate Communications Policy adopted by the Board sets out guidelines for peer review of all external communication for AHL and specifies the conditions for spokespersons. Each business unit operates its own media monitoring, has designated its own spokesperson and has appointed communication personnel to ensure that Athora's reputation is actively monitored in that jurisdiction.

Emerging risk

An emerging risk is a newly developing or changing risk which is perceived to have a potentially significant impact on Athora's financial strength, competitive position or reputation. Emerging risk may not be fully understood yet or accounted for in traditional ways (e.g. terms and conditions, pricing, reserving or capital setting).

A key ingredient for Athora's success is the ability to navigate a dynamic risk landscape—one that changes ever more rapidly and often materialises in unexpected ways. These changes modify known risks, create new ones and open opportunities for Athora to reduce, mitigate and transfer risk.

To protect our customers and our business against undue uncertainties, Athora monitors the evolution of the risk landscape on a continuous basis and so as a central part of our foresight activities, we need to scan the horizon for future risks. This entails the implementation of a broad-based ERM framework, which includes the detection and assessment of emerging risks and thinking in scenarios. Athora maintains an emerging risk universe to monitor and manage emerging risks. The emerging risk universe is a key input in the Athora sustainability strategy.

Athora maintains an Emerging Risk Universe to monitor and manage emerging risks. The emerging risk universe is a key input in the Athora sustainability strategy. The emerging risk register is monitored by the Group Risk Committee and the MEC and the output of Athora's emerging risk identification and assessment process are fed into the external environment analysis for presentation to the Board.

Changes in the reporting period

Covid-19

Starting in March 2020, Covid-19 has continued to dramatically disrupt global financial markets during 2021. In the third quarter of the year, with the emergence of the Omicron strain, major economies faced a new wave of lockdown measures, which have been however short-lived thanks to the government's significant effort to carry forward the vaccination rollout. After a challenging first quarter, global financial markets reported swift recovery towards pre-pandemic level, with low interest rates and tight credit spreads. Key driver to the recovery was the fiscal stimulus package put in place by the major economies' governments, sustaining consumers' demand and investment flows.

Athora's defensive investment positioning and solid underwriting governance maintained before and throughout the covid crisis have contributed to positively weather the challenging market conditions without reporting material credit losses. Active management of the public credit portfolio helped mitigate default and migration losses during the heightened downgrade trend worldwide. Despite the sizeable growth of the private credit portfolio during the year, only few assets experienced material credit deterioration and in the majority of the cases performance has significantly recovered, indicating strong credit fundamentals and solid portfolio resilience through the cycle. The sporadic credit losses were largely driven by individual, idiosyncratic assets concentrated in the most vulnerable industries, such as leisure and hospitality and the consumer discretionary sectors, and remained within group risk tolerance. Overall, the health of the portfolio remains robust, a reflection of the continued adherence to the Prudent Person Principle in our underwriting and risk monitoring processes for the investment activity.

EIOPA's Solvency II Review

EIOPA's Solvency II Review began in 2020 and Athora is closely monitoring the proposals that will enter a long negotiation process in the coming years. In line with other European insurance groups we expect an impact on liabilities given the long term nature of our liabilities and the suggested change in approach in measuring these. The group is actively monitoring the impacts of the review on our balance sheets. The new proposed approaches will be integrated into the risk measurement framework as the approval stages of this review progresses.

Cyber Risk

In 2021, there was a significant global uplift in cyber attacks. This is likely to increase in 2022, especially given the ongoing crisis in Ukraine. Athora needs to continue to focus on perimeter protection (traditional defence) and increasingly focus on readiness/recovery (new defence). It is expected that an increased number of attacks (failed and successful) will occur globally. It is worth noting that in the future, payments to unblock ransomware may become illegal. Currently, 60% of ransoms paid do not result in data being recovered fully, therefore having a robust business continuity recovery capability will be key.

Ukraine crisis

The Ukraine crisis carries significant risk for a world economy that is yet fully to recover from the pandemic shock of Covid-19. Athora has no operations in Ukraine or Russia, and has no material direct exposure to the current situation through our investment portfolio. The impact on Athora will primarily be seen through any macro economic volatility. Athora is closely monitoring development of the events and will coordinate appropriate risk mitigation actions as required.

3.2 Prudent person principle

How assets are invested by and on behalf of the insurance group in accordance with the prudent person principle as stated in paragraph 5.1.2 of the code

The prudent person principle (PPP) requires that insurance companies only invest in assets and instruments whose risks they can properly identify, measure, monitor, manage, control and report, and appropriately take into account in the assessment of their overall solvency needs. Athora considers these requirements before any investment in new assets or instruments and has an investment risk governance process to ensure constant compliance with the PPP. Athora complies with the PPP through the implementation of the following key risk policies:

- Investment Governance and Oversight Policy which sets out the processes and procedures required for the governance of the investment activity, including investment information provision and new product approval process
- Credit Concentration and Counterparty Risk Policy and use of Derivatives Policy which sets out key risk identification, risk measurement, risk monitoring and risk escalation processes, governance and thresholds to the Company's investment activity and hedging program respectively
- ALM Risk Policy and Liquidity Risk Policy which define appropriate ALM and Liquidity risk appetite, risk limits, thresholds, and stress testing requirements, which must be observed in the investment of the Company's assets.

A comprehensive PPP-compliant investment oversight process is in place for Athora's nonpublicly traded asset classes. Risk function performs detailed analysis of new investment opportunities presented by the deal team, with particular focus on creditworthiness of the asset, strategic fitness within Athora investment objectives as well as compliance with internal policy level limits, SAA targets, appropriateness of regulatory capital application and compliance with Liquidity and ALM risk targets. The review is performed using a "Pre-Trade Investment Memorandum", which aggregates all the relevant investment information and analysis on an individual asset level. The memo includes a credit risk overview, details on legal structure, capital structure, loan terms, liquidity and scenario-based projections, SCR capital impact of the investment and quantitative assessment on expected loss.

Risk function closely monitors execution of the strategy and credit developments of the existing portfolio by way of regular meetings with portfolio managers, overview of deal pipeline, maintenance of a credit watchlist, performance monitoring, portfolio deep-dive sessions, contribution to investment committees and review of valuation updates. In addition, Risk function has built an internal credit assessment process to independently evaluate the probability of default (PD) and the loss given default (LGD) for each private credit asset. The process is based on internal methodology built in collaboration with Standard and Poor's rating agency and approved by the BMA. The methodology is maintained and regularly reviewed by the Credit Analyst team, who apply PD and LGD scorecard methodology to assess the creditworthiness of each in-scope asset. The credit assessment memo for each asset is submitted and presented for discussion and approval to the bi-weekly Athora Credit Assessment Committee, chaired by the Group CRO. The credit assessment is reviewed and renewed on an annual basis via the established annual review process. The internal credit assessment process which further enhances Athora's capabilities in overseeing and managing investment risk exposures.

3.3 Stress testing and sensitivity analysis

The stress testing and sensitivity analysis to assess material risks, including methods and assumptions used, and the outcomes

A key requirement under Athora's ERM framework is that Athora entities must have an appropriate risk assessment and measurement framework in place (with supporting processes).

Stress testing and scenario analysis is a key component of the risk assessment and measurement framework. Athora uses stress testing and scenario analysis to assess the resilience of its capital position by testing its ability to withstand a broad range of adverse developments, i.e. risks.

Stress testing and scenario analysis is about ensuring an effective risk management system, which is established by creating an indepth understanding of risk drivers and risk dependencies and by preparing and defining countermeasures in the event that risks occur. By understanding the risks and appropriate countermeasures, Athora can ultimately optimise its chances of fulfilling its business strategy when subject to a number of possible scenarios, especially if these analyses provide us with a better insight into our own strengths and weaknesses.

Stress testing and scenario analysis is used to help analyse the risks to Athora's financial condition, and is fundamental to Athora's risk management system in terms of:

- informing business strategy;
- capital-planning decisions;

- identification, analysis and management of risks inherent within the business; and
- macro prudential oversight.

The purpose of stress testing and scenario analysis includes the following:

- Provide an understanding of risk profile, the nature and scale of key risks and exposures and the impact of events (moderate, substantial, severe/ extreme), which may result in significant own funds losses or materially affect the solvency ratio.
- This helps to provide a more forward-looking assessment of risk as a complement to other risk management tools and helps to overcome the limitations of reliance on historical data.
 Providing a forward-looking view of the impact of stresses and scenarios on the ability to meet capital requirements, therefore highlighting situations where solvency needs cannot be met and where the viability of the business may be under threat.
- Feeding into contingency planning and definition of management actions.
- Understanding the effects of emerging risks on the business model.

Supporting business decision making and strategic planning by highlighting vulnerabilities of the business model:

- setting of risk appetite and limits;
- assessing positions against risk appetite under stressed conditions to allow consideration of mitigating actions; and
- exploring the stresses which would result in Athora's solvency position becoming significantly impaired, resulting in a significant loss of available assets or damage to long-term viability of the business.

Stress testing and scenario analysis forms a key part of Athora's GSSA. In particular, standalone risk scenarios are used as inputs for calculating GSSA capital and testing ongoing appropriateness of the standard formula for calculating regulatory capital requirements for business units and the group under the applicable regime (Solvency II or Bermuda). Business units must perform and report to Athora on the group-wide set of stress tests and scenario analysis at least quarterly. There should at least be a refresh of stress tests performed from the previous quarter, however new stress tests should be considered if relevant after a change in risk profile.

Details of the group solvency ratio sensitivity analysis performed at 31 December 2021 are set out in section 5.3 of this FCR.

3.4 Any other material information

There is no other material information to report.

47

4 SOLVENCY VALUATION

This section sets out information on the valuation of the EBS for solvency purposes in accordance with Schedule XIV of the Group Solvency Rules.

It provides an explanation of the bases, methods and assumptions used for EBS valuation purposes for the main balance sheet categories, including an explanation where applicable, of the differences between the IFRS balance sheet and the EBS. The table below summarises the EBS as at 31 December 2021:

	F EBS 2021 €m	Restated EBS 2020 €m¹
Investments	70,933	75,660
Investment properties	2,064	1,404
Reinsurance receivables	2	1,051
Cash and cash equivalents	1,073	1,244
Other	2,044	3,022
Total assets	76,116	82,381
Insurance provisions	63,778	65,165
Insurance and reinsurance payables	452	1,519
Financial liabilities	5,444	8,772
Other	1,780	2,035
Total liabilities	71,454	77,491
Excess of assets over liabilities	4,662	4,890

1 Any comparative figures for year ended 31 December 2020 have been updated in line with the SER published on 6 Oct 21 as stated on page 4 of this document and are all marked as "restated" where applicable

The consolidated financial statements for Athora are prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union (EU) and form the basis of the EBS under the Bermuda capital regime. The basis of the EBS fair valuation principle is the amount for which the assets or liabilities could be exchanged between knowledgeable and willing parties in an arm's length transaction. Under the EBS regime, certain items not fair valued under IFRS are required to be adjusted. These adjustments are described in the following sections.

Where the valuation of assets and liabilities is the same under both IFRS and EBS, a description of the valuation bases, methods and main assumptions can be found in the group's 2021 Annual Report (see Note 1 Accounting policies and Note 24 Fair value of assets and liabilities), which is available at https://www.athora.com/results-andreports.

4.1 Asset valuation bases

The valuation bases, assumptions and methods used to derive the value of each asset class

Investments

Investments include equities, government bonds, investment grade corporate bonds, mutual funds, loans and advances due from banks and net exposure to derivatives. All investments are measured at fair value for both EBS and IFRS purposes, other than loans and advances from banks which are held at amortised cost for IFRS. Under the Bermuda regulatory regime, loans and advances due from banks are valued at fair value.

Investments are recorded at fair value using quoted market prices, where possible. Pricing information is obtained from external and independent pricing sources, broker quotes or valuation models. These sources incorporate a variety of market observable information in their valuation techniques including benchmark yields, trading activity, credit quality, issuer spreads, bids, offers and other reference data to calculate the fair value.

Derivatives are held at fair value for both IFRS and on the EBS. However, the presentation is different. Under IFRS, derivative assets and derivative liabilities are presented separately, while under the BMA guidance, derivatives are presented as a net asset/net liability as applicable.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets recognised on the IFRS balance sheet are removed from the EBS in accordance with BMA guidance.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held on call with banks, other short-term liquid investments, and fixed interest deposits. The IFRS valuation is considered fair value.

Investment properties

Investment properties are property portfolios of commercial and mixed-use properties. They are principally retail properties, offices, and residential properties held for long-term rental yields and are not occupied by the group. The IFRS valuation provides a reasonable basis for the fair valuation. Under IFRS, investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. After initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the reporting date. Therefore, there are no EBS adjustments made to investment properties. The offices occupied by Athora Belgium are part of one office block. The office block is split between owner occupied and investment property. Under IFRS the owner-occupied portion is valued at cost less depreciation; under BMA guidance the owner occupied portion is fair valued.

Other

Other includes deferred tax assets, collateral held and other receivables. These are valued on an IFRS basis which is deemed a reasonable proxy for fair value, given the nature of these assets. To calculate the EBS position, prudential filters are applied to eliminate assets which do not have a readily realisable market value, such as prepaid and deferred expenses.

To calculate the EBS deferred tax asset/liability, the IFRS deferred tax asset/liability is adjusted to

recognise the approximate impact of an increase or decrease in shareholders' funds arising from the transition from IFRS to EBS.

4.2 Technical provisions valuation bases

The valuation basis, assumptions and methods used to derive the value of technical provisions and the amount of the best estimate. The calculation of the risk margin and the level of uncertainty associated with technical provisions.

The value of the technical provisions is calculated as the sum of the best estimate and a risk margin.

The best estimate provision (BEP) is defined as the average expected scenario. It is to be neither prudent nor optimistic. Assumptions are compared to actual experience and reviewed to consider any potential trend changes.

The risk margin reflects the uncertainty in the best estimate provision due to the underlying, largely unhedgeable risks such as longevity, lapse, underwriting, credit expense, and operational. It is determined as the present value of the cost (set at 6%) of future economic capital requirements (BSCR) for these unhedgeable risks. The risk margin together with the BEP approximates the market value of the liabilities. A risk margin is added to the BEP to be consistent with non-liquid markets. It is defined as the cost of non-hedgeable risks, that is, a margin added to the expected present value of liability cash flows required to manage the business on an ongoing basis.

Technical provisions are calculated in accordance with regulatory requirements including the Group Solvency Rules and professional practices.

This section provides a summary of the EBS technical provisions including the assumptions and methodologies used to derive the value of the technical provisions and the level of uncertainty in technical provisions.

Proportionality

The technical provisions are determined using appropriate data, assumptions and methods that are proportionate to the nature, scale and complexity of the risks underlying the insurance contracts.

Expert judgement

The valuation of the technical provisions requires expert judgement, notably when historical data is not sufficient to predict future trends. When necessary, expert judgements are validated within the appropriate governance and in line with professional practices and regulatory requirements.

Cashflow modelling approach

Athora utilises the actuarial cashflow projection models used in the local business units for local statutory and regulatory reporting. As most of Athora's subsidiaries are European and report on a Solvency II basis (reflecting the regulatory regime in Europe), the cashflows used are consistent with those prepared for Solvency II reporting.

The cashflow models used project the cash inflows and outflows required to meet obligations to policyholders over the lifetime of the policy, taking into account the undertaking's regulatory duty to treat its customers fairly.

The projection of future cash flows is performed using realistic assumptions regarding future experience. The key relevant assumptions include mortality, longevity, lapse rates and option takeup rates with allowance for any expected trends. An allowance is also made for future expenses. The table on the right sets out the material cash in/out flows.

Contract boundaries

The calculation of the best estimate provision allows for the future boundaries of the insurance contracts. A boundary exists where the insurance company has a unilateral right to terminate the contract, refuse premiums payable under the contract, stop paying claims on the policy or has the unilateral right to amend the premiums or benefits in a way that the premiums fully reflect the risks.

Financial options and guarantees

Where financial options and guarantees are part of the insurance contracts, a stochastic approach is used to value these options and guarantees.

Cashflows in scope for best estimate provision

The table below summarises the cashflows in scope of the liability cashflow projection models.

These cashflows are provided by homogenous risk groups and the subsequent best estimate provision is calculated. This is produced in order to allocate the best estimate provision to the relevant lines of business, as required for regulatory reporting.

Cash inflows	Cash outflows
Future policyholder premiums inside of the contract boundary	Benefit payment including: • Claims payments • Maturity benefits • Death benefits • Critical Illness benefits • Surrender benefits • Annuity payments • Guarantee payments • Profit sharing payments
Annual management charges for unit- linked business	Expenses including: • Administration expenses • Investment management expenses • Commission payments
Claims and benefits arising from reinsurance contracts	Future reinsurance premiums and commissions
Floating leg payments on longevity swaps	Fixed leg payments on longevity swaps

Discount rates

The BEP considers the time value of money using relevant risk-free interest rate term structures with an appropriate illiquidity premium. The BMA has two methods, which are described in the BMA's guidance for Commercial Insurers and Groups (dated 30 November 2016).

- **Standard approach** utilises interest rates prescribed by the BMA which are risk free rates plus an illiquidity premium.
- Scenario based approach (SBA) utilises the actual portfolio of assets backing the liabilities to derive a best estimate liability valuation. This valuation represents the market value of assets necessary to cover all liability cashflows included in the SBA, adjusted for the maximum amount of additional assets required under nine interest rate scenarios prescribed by the BMA. The scenario tests capture the interest rate sensitivity, and the degree of cashflow mismatch, of assets and liabilities included in the SBA.

The best estimate provision for liability cashflows that are suitable for a cashflow matching strategy is valued using the SBA, subject to approval by the BMA and eligible asset coverage. Assets used in the SBA meet eligibility criteria as prescribed by the BMA which requires the assets to be of high quality and fixed income in nature. This is consistent with the investment strategy employed by Athora which is focused on producing stable and predictable spread generation for its diverse and expertly managed investment portfolio. The SBA requires that we project the assets assuming appropriate levels of expected defaults for each individual asset class and to allow for the actual investment management fees that are expected to be incurred in deploying this investment strategy. Reinvestments must follow the company's investment guidelines and indicative yields. The projection of the assets within the SBA is consistent with the current practices whereby local business units manage their asset portfolios to produce stable local solvency coverage ratios. The approach takes account of the planned transition to locally approved (SAAs). The BMA-prescribed stresses are onerous and are designed such that any mismatch between assets and liabilities is penalised and is included in the best estimate.

Unit-linked liabilities are also excluded as the value of the unit-linked liabilities directly depends on the value of the corresponding unit linked assets.

Risk margin

The calculation of the risk margin involves projecting the non-hedgeable risks over the lifetime of the insurance business. Non-hedgeable risks are classified as insurance risks, operational risks and credit risks. The BMA guidelines state that market risk is not considered in the risk margin, where it can be assumed that the asset portfolio can be constructed to hold a risk-free portfolio. Appropriate risk drivers are used to project the non-hedgeable risks and the projected risks are aggregated using a correlation matrix at each future time point to derive the risk margin. The rate used to discount the projected non-hedgeable risks is the basic risk-free rate (floored at zero), as prescribed by the BMA.

The risk margin is calculated using a cost of capital approach. For all insurance companies the cost of capital rate used is 6%, as prescribed by the BMA.

Assumptions

The cashflows underlying the BEP are based on unbiased prevailing assumptions and take into account all future cashflows needed to settle future insurance obligations.

The table below contains the main assumptions used in the calculation of the best estimate provision.

Economic assumptions	Non-economic assumptions
Risk-free rates	Mortality rates
Credit spreads	Morbidity rates
Expense inflation	Persistency
Тах	Annuity take-up rates
Asset volatility and correlations	Operating and investment management expenses

Economic assumptions are reviewed and calibrated on a regular basis. In order to derive the BEP, assumptions are made about the asset performance of the company. This requires consideration of the development of capital markets and assumptions on the company's investment strategy and asset portfolio and allocation.

Non-economic assumptions are reviewed at least annually to ensure that they remain appropriate and reflect recent experience. These assumptions are determined based on past, current, and expected future experience. Data used to set assumptions may come from both credible internal and external sources. Recent trends in the insurance book or the wider population are monitored and considered when reviewing best estimate assumptions.

Expert judgement is used, or combined with quantitative information, where there is a lack of sufficient quality data. Any expert judgement used in setting assumptions is derived from a 'fit and proper person' with the proficiency and experience necessary. These assumptions are reviewed by the group and guidance on assumption setting is provided by the Group Chief Actuary. By following this assumption framework, Group Actuarial has oversight of all material assumption changes in local entities. The appropriateness of the non-economic actuarial assumptions is assessed by the Group Chief Actuary as part of the reserving adequacy review.

Level of uncertainty associated with technical provisions

The best estimate provision corresponds to the probability-weighted average of future cashflows that considers the time value of money and reflects expectations of how the capital markets and the business will evolve in the future. This gives rise to inherent uncertainty in the valuation of the technical provisions.

All assumptions and estimates about future behaviour are based on management's views and predictions of future events based on current knowledge, facts, and circumstances at the valuation date. The list below sets out some of the key estimates and assumptions that underpin the value of the technical provisions and could give rise to some uncertainty in the valuation:

- Uncertainty in future policyholder behaviour e.g. actual lapse rates being different to those expected when setting the assumptions.
- Uncertainty in the future biometric assumptions and future trends such as life expectancy.
- Change in the asset values used to determine future claims amounts and the cost of any guarantees.
- Changes in the level of risk-free interest rates which may change over time and be different to expectations at the valuation date.
- Changes in legislation relating to supervision of insurance entities or tax.

Technical provisions overview

The table below summarises Athora's technical provisions as at 31 December 2021:

Insurance Provisions	l 2021 €m	Restated 2020 €m
Insurance provisions	45,784	48,463
Reinsurance asset	1,363	1,205
Net best estimate provisions	47,147	49,668
Risk margin	959	1,395
Liabilities attributable to policyholders and third parties*	15,672	14,102
	63,778	65,165

* Includes unit-linked

4.3 Recoverables from reinsurance contracts valuation bases

A description of recoverables from reinsurance contracts, including special purpose insurers and other risk transfer mechanisms

Reinsurance recoverables are calculated using the same principles as those used to calculate the gross reserves. The cashflows underlying the recoverable are based on unbiased prevailing assumptions and take into account all future cashflows needed to settle future insurance obligations.

4.4 Valuation bases, assumptions and methods of other liabilities

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are made up of collateral held, deposits, repurchase agreements and borrowings. Under IFRS the borrowings are valued at amortised cost. Fair value adjustments have been applied to calculate the EBS valuation.

Insurance and reinsurance payables

These payables relate to claims arising out of insurance and reinsurance operations and other operational payables. For these liabilities, the IFRS valuation policy is considered to be a close approximation to fair value, and therefore sufficient for EBS purposes.

Other

Other comprises accounts payable, accruals, tax payable and provision for pension obligations. IFRS valuation is considered to be a close approximation to fair value, and therefore sufficient for EBS purposes.

Deferred tax is based on IFRS values and adjusted for the impact of the net change in shareholders' funds arising from the transition adjustments applied to the IFRS in order to arrive at the EBS.

Other liabilities	l 2021 €m	Restated 2020 €m
Accounts payable	63	56
Accruals	274	307
Tax payable	84	69
Provision for pension obligations	763	778
Deferred tax liabilities	151	14
Other	445	811
	1,780	2,035

4.5 Any other material information

The impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on the fair value of assets and economic parameters such as interest rates and credit spreads has been reflected in the financial statements. There has been no discernible impact observed for lapse and the ongoing impact of Covid-19 on mortality and morbidity rates during 2021 has not been material and there has been no change in these assumptions. Athora continues to monitor the development of Covid-19 and the rising geo-political tensions, specifically the conflict in Ukraine that could impact global markets and the potential implications on the fair value of assets and the assumptions used to value the liabilities.

5 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

5.1 Eligible capital

5.1.1 A description of the capital management policy and process of the insurance group to determine capital needs for business planning, how capital is managed and any material changes during the reporting year

Athora manages capital within the constraints, preferences and requirements of our stakeholders. The primary objective of the group's capital management policy is to ensure that a strong financial position is maintained and unwanted capital volatility is minimised. The group has adopted the Athora Group Capital Management Policy which sets out its capital management process.

The aims of the capital management policy are:

- Capital adequacy: ensure a robust capitalisation of the group and of all local entities to withstand moderate, substantial and severe stress events.
- 2. **Capital generation:** ensure sufficient capital is available for local entities to pursue an investment and underwriting strategy that will deliver returns that meet or exceed our return on capital targets and therefore make a positive contribution to distributable capital.
- Financial flexibility: provide sufficient flexibility for the group and each local entity balance sheet to take advantage of market opportunities that might arise with attractive return expectations.
- 4. Efficient use of capital: capital is deployed at any point in time to achieve adequate returns.

The group's Finance and Capital Committee, together with the Board, regularly consider capital assessments and projections for the group to ensure that capital is managed with continuous adherence to the group's principles around capital adequacy, financial flexibility and the efficient use of capital.

A capital management plan is prepared, at least annually, for which the group performs capital projections over the business planning period. The projections take into account the current and expected business strategy, risk profile and capital management activities. This exercise allows the Board to make an assessment of the group's current and projected solvency needs and helps trigger appropriate and timely capital management actions, where required. The capital management plan is regularly monitored and updated to reflect up-to-date information and the performance of the business.

Changes during the reporting period

There have been no material changes to the capital management policy, the business planning process or the approach to capital management during the reporting year.

In April 2021, the group issued a €300m Subordinated Tier 2 bond from Athora Netherlands to a group of institutional credit investors at an initial interest rate of 2.25%. The proceeds of the bond issuance were used to redeem a €250 millon Subordinated Tier 2 bond with a 9% interest rate at SRLEV and support the capitalisation of the Netherlands.

In September 2021, the group secured €350m of preferred share equity commitments from existing shareholders, of which €150m of Series B preferred Shares were drawn in December 2021.

In addition, the group drew on €210m of new common share equity in December 2021. As at 31 December 2021, there was €660m of undrawn common share equity remaining, of which €70m will be drawn in the first half of 2022. €500m of this undrawn common shares equity is expected to remain undrawn and will be used only to protect the financial soundness of the group in a stress scenario. Note, undrawn common and preferred shares equity commitments are not counted as Available Statutory Capital.

Athora's required capital is calculated using the BSCR i.e., the ECR. The table below summarises Athora's capital position on an EBS basis at 31 December 2021.

	Restate	
Capital	2021 €m	2020 €m
Available Statutory Capital	4,662	4,890
ECR	2,492	2,445
Surplus	2,170	2,445
Solvency ratio	187%	200%

5.1.2 A description of the eligible capital of the insurance group categorised by tiers in accordance with the group rules

Bermuda has a three-tiered capital system to assess the quality of capital resources that an insurance group has available to meet its capital requirements. The tiered capital system classifies all capital instruments into one of three tiers based on their 'loss absorbency' characteristics with the highest quality capital classified as Tier 1 capital and lesser quality capital classified as either Tier 2 capital or Tier 3 capital. Only Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital are admissible to cover the Minimum Margin of Solvency (MSM), whereas all tiers of capital are admissible to cover the ECR, subject to percentage admissibility limits defined in the Group Rules. See section 5.1.3 for further details.

At 31 December 2021, Athora's eligible capital was categorised as shown in the table below:

	F	Restated		
	2021 €m	2020 €m		
Tier 1	3,742	4,036		
Tier 2	920	854		
Tier 3	-	-		
	4,662	4,890		

At 31 December 2021, Athora's eligible capital was primarily categorised as Tier 1, the highest quality capital, mainly consisting of common share capital and share premium, statutory surplus, preferred shares and restricted Tier 1 notes (which are classified as Tier 1 ancillary capital). At 31 December 2021, Tier 2 capital of €920 million (2020: €854 million) related to three subordinated debt instruments. See Section 5.1.6 below for further details.

5.1.3 A description of the eligible capital categorised by tiers, in accordance with the Group Rules used to meet the ECR and the MSM defined in accordance with section (1) (1) of the Insurance Act

As at 31 December 2021, the group's eligible capital for its MSM and ECR was categorised as follows:

	MSM limits	ECR limits	MSM €m	ECR €m
2021				
Tier 1	80% (min)	60% (min)	3,408	3,742
Tier 2	25% (max)	66.67% (max)	852	920
Tier 3	-	17.65% (max)		
			4,260	4,662
2020	Restated ¹			
Tier 1	80% (min)	60% (min)	3,781	4,036
Tier 2	25% (max)	66.67% (max)	854	854
Tier 3	-	17.65% (max)	-	_
			4,635	4,890

1 Updated calculation from figures published in the SER

Under the percentage admissibility limits for the ECR defined by the Group Rules, at 31 December 2021 the group has unused incremental Tier 2 capacity available of \notin 1,574 million (2020: \notin 1,836 million) and unused incremental Tier 3 capacity available of \notin 823 million (2020: \notin 863 million).

5.1.4 Confirmation that the insurance group's eligible capital is subject to transitional arrangements as required under the group rules

Athora has no eligible capital subject to transitional arrangements.

5.1.5 Identification of any factors of the insurance group affecting encumbrances affecting the availability and transferability of capital to meet the ECR

Under the regulatory assessment of encumbrances prescribed by the Group Rules, all of Athora's capital is deemed unencumbered.

5.1.6 Identification of ancillary capital instruments that have been approved by the Authority

In line with the approval received from the BMA, Athora recognises the instruments described below as Tier 1 and Tier 2 ancillary capital.

Tier 1 Ancillary capital instruments

lssuer	Instrument type		mount ognised
AHL	Preferred Shares (Series A)	27 March 2020	€369m
AHL	Preferred Shares (Series B)	27 December 2021	€150m
Athora Netherlands N.V.	Restricted Tier 1 note	19 June 2018	€245m

In 2020 AHL issued €375m Series A preferred shares issued in 2020 with a dividend rate of 8% per annum. Dividends are fully discretionary and if declared Athora can elect to pay in cash or in kind via issuance of additional preferred shares.

In December 2021, the group issued a further €150m of Series B preferred shares with fully discretionary dividends (dividend rate of 4.8%). All the preferred shares are eligible as Tier 1.

Through its subsidiary, Athora Netherlands N.V., the group has a Restricted Tier 1 note in issue with nominal value of \notin 300 million, which was acquired at a fair value of \notin 245m and is held at that value due to the requirements of IFRS3 purchase accounting. The note is perpetual and first callable in 2025 and each interest payment date thereafter, subject to conditions of redemption. The coupon is fixed at 7% per annum until the first call date. Athora Netherlands may at its sole and absolute discretion at any time elect to cancel any coupon payment (or part thereof) which would otherwise be payable on any payment date.

Tier 2 Ancillary capital instruments

lssuer	Instrument type	lssue date	Amount recognised
Athora Netherlands N.V.	US\$575m subordinated notes	16 Nov 2017	€519m
Athora Netherlands N.V.	€300m subordinated notes	13 April 2021	€299m
SRLEV N.V.	CHF 105m perpetual bonds	19 July 2011	€102m

Athora Netherlands' \$575 million perpetual subordinated notes carry a coupon fixed at 6.250% per annum until the first call date (November 2022). The notes are first callable after five years and each fifth anniversary thereafter, subject to conditions to redemption. The notes qualify as Tier 2 regulatory capital.

The €300m subordinated notes qualify as Tier 2 regulatory capital and carry a fixed coupon of 2.250% until the first call date (April 2026) and are first callable after five years, subject to the usual Solvency II redemption conditions - the proceeds of this issuance were partially used to refinance the below mentioned SRLEV €250m subordinated bonds.

At 31 December 2020, SRLEV N.V.'s (a subsidiary of Athora Netherlands) €250 million subordinated bonds, with a maturity date in 2041 and a coupon of 9.000%, were classified as Tier 2 regulatory capital under the group's Bermuda regulatory framework. On 15 April 2021, these bonds were redeemed in full at their principal amount outstanding together with accrued and unpaid interest.

SRLEV N.V.'s CHF105 million perpetual subordinated bonds carry a coupon of mid-swap plus 5.625% and are callable annually. The bonds qualify as Tier 2 regulatory capital.

5.1.7 Identification of differences in shareholders' equity as stated in the financial statements versus available statutory capital and surplus

The most significant differences in shareholders' equity as stated in the IFRS financial statements versus the Available Statutory Capital and surplus are due to the impact of employing statutory based technical provision valuation techniques and the reclassification of subordinated liabilities.

The following table sets out the reconciliation of IFRS total equity to Available Statutory Capital at 31 December 2021:

	2021 €m	Restated 2020 €m
IFRS total equity	4,815	4,254
Non-admitted assets net of tax	(282)	(266)
Adjustment to EBS		
Insurance assets and liabilities valuation differences	(691)	264
Financial asset and liabilities valuation differences	(22)	(34)
Reclassification of subordinated liabilities	920	854
Net deferred tax on valuation differences	(78)	(182)
Available statutory economic capital and surplus	4,662	4,890

5.2 Regulatory capital

5.2.1 Identification of amount of the insurance group ECR and MSM at the end of the reporting period

Athora uses the BSCR model to determine the ECR.

The ECR is calculated by populating the BSCR model. This calculates capital requirements for market risks, credit risks, long term insurance risks and operational risks. These main risks have sub-risks, which are aggregated using correlation matrices. The sub-risks within market risks include fixed income risk, equity risk, currency risk, concentration risk and interest rate risk. The sub-risks within insurance risks include mortality, morbidity and disability, longevity, stop loss, riders, variable annuity guarantee and other long-term insurance risks. As Athora does not write property and casualty (P&C) business, it has no capital requirement in respect of P&C risks.

These capital requirements are calculated by applying capital factors or stresses to the exposure. The aforementioned capital factors are prescribed in the Group Solvency Rules, with the exposures being populated by Athora in line with BMA guidance. The correlation matrices applied are prescribed by the Group Solvency Rules.

At 31 December 2021 Athora's regulatory capital requirements were assessed as follows:

		R	estated R	estated
	2021 €m	2021 Ratio	2020 €m	2020 Ratio
MSM	1,331	350%	1,563	377%
ECR	2,492	187%	2,445	200%

The chart below shows the composition of the group's undiversified ECR by BSCR risk category¹ at 31 December 2021.



The most significant contribution to the total undiversified ECR comes from market risk, which accounts for 60%:

• Other market risks (24% of total undiversified BSCR): comprises equity and property

risks (22% of total undiversified BSCR) and concentration risk (2% of total undiversified BSCR).

- Fixed income investment risk (32% of total undiversified BSCR): captures the market risks linked to fixed-income securities (except for interest rate risks which are assessed separately) and is a core risk for Athora given our risk profile and appetite (see section 3 for further details).
- Interest rate and liquidity risk represents 3% of the total undiversified BSCR.

The second most significant contribution comes from long-term insurance risk, which accounts for 30% of the total undiversified BSCR and is comprised of the following sub-risks: longevity (11% of total undiversified BSCR), mortality (3% of total undiversified BSCR), morbidity and disability (1% of total undiversified BSCR), and other insurance risks (18% of total undiversified BSCR).

Credit risk (1% of total undiversified BSCR) has a relatively low weight in the total BSCR as under the BSCR model, credit risk covers mainly reinsurance and receivables exposures only. Credit risk linked to investment assets is captured in the BSCR model under fixed income investment risk (see market risks above).

Finally, operational risk has a weight of 10% in the total undiversified BSCR, which reflects our low to medium risk appetite to this risk category (see section 3 of this FCR for further details).

5.2.2 Identification of any non-compliance by the insurance group with the MSM and the ECR

Not applicable.

5.2.3 A description of the amount and circumstances surrounding the insurance group's non-compliance, the remedial measures taken and their effectiveness

Not applicable (see 5.2.2).

5.2.4 Where the non-compliance has not been resolved, a description of the amount of the non-compliance of the insurance group at the end of the reporting year

Not applicable (see 5.2.2).

¹ See Appendix 2 for a mapping between the BSCR risk categories and the categories in Athora's Risk Universe.

5.3 Group solvency sensitivities

Sensitivities

In addition to the examination of the best estimate scenario, Athora performs a thorough analysis of the resilience of the group's solvency ratio in alternative scenarios. As Athora's business model is sensitive to interest rate and credit spread movements, specific sensitivities are performed to ensure these features are modelled appropriately.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk represents changes in the value of assets and liabilities, based on the corresponding valuation basis, as well as capital requirements for a given movement in interest rates. Athora aims to tightly limit the balance sheet volatility of operating entities to interest rate movements by implementing an interest rate ALM approach that is efficient under the local capital regimes.

As the majority of the group's operating entities are domiciled in the EU and operate under Solvency II, interest rate risk management is primarily designed to minimise entities' Solvency II balance sheet volatility. The hedging approach employed results in some residual EBS volatility given differences in calibration of EBS compared to Solvency II. Athora actively monitors the basis risk between local and group solvency, to ensure that the group's solvency ratio remains within risk appetite levels.

	Solvency ratio	Solvency ratio change
FY 2021	187%	0%
Interest Rate +50bps	206%	19%
Interest Rate -50bps	165%	-22%

Spread risk

Spread risk represents changes in the value of assets and liabilities, based on the corresponding valuation basis, as well as capital requirements for a given movement in credit spreads. As detailed in section 3.1, Athora has a medium-risk appetite for spread risk, but accepts certain investment-related credit risk (e.g. complexity and illiquidity), subject to an appropriate risk-reward trade-off. The sensitivity of Athora's group solvency ratio to spread changes is driven by:

- the impact of a defined spread change on the value of fixed income assets within the investment portfolio, and
- the impact on the value of liabilities, from corresponding changes in illiquidity premium accounted for in the liability discounting (see section 4.2). In particular, for liabilities for which the SBA is used, changes in market spreads will also impact the expected yields of re-invested assets within the SBA cashflow projections

The combination of the two impacts above results in an increase/decrease in group solvency ratio when spreads widen/tighten, and reflects the impact of modelled future reinvestment spreads used in liability discounting (and vice-versa when spreads tighten).

	Solvency ratio	Solvency ratio change
FY 2021	187%	O%
Spread +50bps	201%	14%
Spread -50bps	176%	-11%

Underwriting (long-term insurance) risk

The value of the life insurance portfolio is also sensitive to changes in the underwriting parameters used for calculating the market value of liabilities.

	Solvency ratio	Solvency ratio change
FY 2021	187%	0%
Lapse Down 1-in-10	181%	-6%
Longevity up 1-in-10	177%	-10%

5.4 Approved internal capital model to derive the ECR

Not applicable (see 5.2.1).

5.5 Any other material information

There is no other material information to report.

6 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

6.1 Description of the subsequent events

6.1.1 Sale of ACTIAM

On 21 October 2021, Athora Netherlands, a wholly owned subsidiary, reached an agreement to sell its asset manager ACTIAM N.V. (ACTIAM) to Cardano Risk Management BV. The transaction was completed on 1 January 2022.

6.1.2 Acquisition of a closed-book individual life portfolio

On 8 October 2021, it was announced that Athora Belgium NV/SA (Athora Belgium), a wholly owned subsidiary, entered into exclusive negotiations to acquire a closed-book individual life portfolio from NN Insurance Belgium NV/SA representing \notin 3,300 million of assets under management. The transaction is expected to complete later in 2022, subject to receipt of requisite regulatory and other approvals.

6.1.3 Acquisition Italian life insurer, Amissima Vita

On 23 September 2021, it was announced that the group has agreed to acquire Italian life insurer, Amissima Vita S.p.A (Amissima Vita) as part of its continuing growth strategy focused on traditional life savings and pension products. At year end 2020, Amissima Vita's assets stood at \notin 7,200 million, representing the savings of about 140,000 policyholders, and annual gross written premiums totalled over \notin 800 million. The transaction is expected to complete within the second half of 2022, subject to applicable regulatory clearances.

6.1.4 Dividend declared

On 9 March 2022, the Board declared a dividend of \notin 17 million on its Series A preferred shares, which was paid in kind by the pro rata issuance of 168,723 Series A preferred shares.

6.1.5 AHL loan facility

On 12 April 2022, the group secured a new €250m senior bank loan, with a group of credit institutions. The loan was approved as Tier 3 regulatory capital on 27 April 2022.

6.1.6 Fitch rating upgrade

On 9 May 2022, Fitch Ratings upgraded the Insurer Financial Strength Ratings of Athora Life Re Ltd., Athora Ireland plc and SRLEV N.V. from A- to A. Issuer Default Ratings for Athora Holding Ltd. and Athora Netherlands N.V. have also been upgraded from BBB+ to A-. The rating outlook for Athora and its subsidiaries has been revised from Positive to Stable.

6.2 Any other material information

There is no other material information to report.

DECLARATION

We, the Group Chief Executive Officer and Group Chief Financial Officer of Athora Holding Ltd., do hereby certify that to the best of our knowledge and belief, this Financial Condition Report fairly represents the financial condition of Athora Holding Ltd. in all material respects.

Signed: /s/ Michele Bareggi

Title: Group Chief Executive Officer

Date: 24 May 2022

Signed: /s/ Anders Malmström

Title: Group Chief Financial Officer

Date: 24 May 2022

Athora group simplified structure



1. All percentages are 100% unless otherwise specified. All ownership interests in Athora Holding Ltd. represent the equity interest of each shareholder.

2. ACTIAM N.V was sold on 1 January 2022.

APPENDIX 2

A mapping between the BSCR risk categories and the Athora Risk Universe is provided in the table below.

BSCR risk category	Athora risk category
Market risk	Market risk
Fixed income investment risk	Spread risk Default and migration risk
Equity investment risk	Equity risk Property risk
Interest rate and liquidity risk	Interest rate risk Liquidity risk
Currency risk	Currency risk
Concentration risk	Concentration risk
Credit risk	Credit risk
Long-term insurance risk	Underwriting risk
Mortality risk	Mortality risk
Morbidity and disability risk	Morbidity and disability risk
Longevity risk	Longevity risk
Other insurance risk	Policyholder behaviour risk Expense reserving risk
Stop loss risk Riders risk Variable annuity guarantee risk	Off-strategy underwriting risks
Operational risk	Operational risk

Operational risk

Operational risk

This document has been prepared and issued by Athora Holding Ltd. (together with its subsidiaries, 'Athora', also referred to as 'the group'), and must not be interpreted as a recommendation, inducement, invitation or offer to purchase, transfer or sell any securities issued by Athora.

This document contains certain forward-looking statements that reflect Athora's intentions, beliefs, assumptions or current expectations about and targets for the group's future result of operations, financial condition, liquidity, performance, prospects, anticipated growth, strategies and opportunities and the markets in which Athora operates, taking into account all information currently available, and are not necessarily indicative or guarantees of future performance and results. You should not place undue reliance on the forward-looking statements in this document. Athora does not guarantee that the assumptions underlying the forwardlooking statements in this document are free from errors, does not accept any responsibility for the future accuracy of the opinions expressed in this document and does not undertake any obligation to update the statements in this document to reflect subsequent events. No responsibility, obligation or liability (whether direct or indirect, in contract, tort or otherwise) is or will be accepted in relation to this document by any member of the group or any member's respective directors, officers, employees, advisers or agents. No representation or warranty, express or implied, is made as to the truth, fullness, accuracy, reasonableness or completeness of the information contained herein (or whether any information has been omitted from this document) or any other information relating to Athora, whether written, oral or in a visual or electronic form, and howsoever transmitted or made available by Athora or any of its directors, officers, employees, advisers or agents.



